
SUNAPEE SELECTBOARD 
ADVISORY BUDGET COMMITTEE 

MEETING AGENDA 
6:30PM TOWN OFFICE MEETING ROOM 

Monday, November 27th, 2023 
Join us on Zoom: https://us06web.zoom.us/j/86066395397 

1. ADVISORY BUDGET MEETING
• 6:30 PM Budget Follow Up: Compensation
• Discussion

2. CALL SELECTBOARD MEETING TO ORDER

3. REVIEW AND APPROVE MINUTES

4. REVIEW OF ITEMS FOR SIGNATURE:

CZC’s 

• Parcel ID:0126-0024-0000, 8 Old Norcross Road, Michael & Janet Jesanis Trust
• Parcel ID: 0232-0018-0000, 46 Depot Road, 46 Depot Rd LLC, Jim Bruss

LAND DISTURBANCE 

• Parcel ID: 0128-0031-0000, 90 Garnet Street, Michael & Sharon Kelly
• Parcel ID: 0125-0012-0000, 36 Jobs Creek Road, Duane & Elizabeth Delfosse

USE OF FACILITIES 

• Retroactive Approval: November 20, 2023, Make A Wish Parade

INTENT TO CUT 

• Parcel ID: 0234-0008-0000, Stagecoach Road, RH Webb Forest Preserve, LLC
• Parcel ID: 0233-0057-0000, 222 Bradford Road, Stephen J and Dawn L Bowie

5. APPOINTMENTS:
• 7:00 PM  Public Hearing for the Acceptance and Expenditure of Unanticipated

Revenue from State of NH-Highway Block Grant of $35,295.52 
• 7:05 PM Conservation Commission

6. PUBLIC COMMENT:
• 

7. SELECTBOARD ACTION:
• Certificate of Appointment – Ian Kirk, Recreation Committee

8. TOWN MANAGER REPORT:

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/86066395397


• Tax Rate Set: $9.68 per thousand Compliance Update 
• Legal Update 

o 21 November 2023: KTP Hearing 
o 29 November 2023: Hoekstra Hearing 
o 16 December 2023: Weiss Hearing  

• Coalition 2.0  
o Meeting November 29, 2023, at 3 PM 

• FY 2022 Audit 

 
9. SELECTBOARD MEMBERS’ REPORT: 

•  

 
10. UPCOMING MEETINGS: 

 
• Water and Sewer Commissioners Meeting:  November 30, 2023 5:30 PM 
• Sunapee Selectboard Meeting:  December 4, 2023 6:30 PM 
• Conservation Committee Meeting:   December 6, 2023 7:00 PM 
• Zoning Board of Adjustments Meeting  December 7, 2023 6:30 PM 
• Sunapee Selectboard Meeting:  December 18, 2023 6:30 PM 

 
NONPUBLIC: The Board of Selectmen may enter a nonpublic session, if so voted, to 
discuss items listed under RSA 91-A:3, II 
 



SUNAPEE SELECTBOARD 
MEETING MINUTES 

TOWN OFFICE MEETING ROOM 
Monday, November 13, 2023, 6:30 P.M. 

Present: Chair Carol Wallace; Vice Chair Suzanne Gottling; Members Josh Trow, Jeremy 
Hathorn, and Frederick Gallup 
Also present: Town Manager Shannon Martinez; Emily Wrenn 

Meeting called to order at 6:39 p.m. by Chair Wallace, who led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

1. REVIEW OF MINUTES

MOTION to approve the minutes as amended for the October 16, 2023, Select Board
meeting, and the minutes as written for the October 30, 2023, Select Board meeting
made by Member Gottling, seconded by Member Trow. All voted in favor. 

2. REVIEW OF ITEMS FOR SIGNATURE 

CZCs 
• Parcel ID: 0114-0066-0000, 114 Fairway Drive, Ivey Trust Agreement, Mary B &

Allen E Ivey 
• Parcel ID: 0114-0065-0000, 113 Fairway Drive, Rudaw Living Trust, Lauren Bowe
• Parcel ID: 0115-0006-0000, 40 Burma Road, James Riter 
• Parcel ID: 0226-0011-0000, 250 Youngs Hill Road, Joseph & Sara Walz
• Parcel ID: 0118-0051-0000, 90 Burma Road, Daniel Cave 
• Parcel ID: 0148-0045-0000, 640 Edgemont Road, Timothy & Linda Julian

LAND DISTURBANCE 
• Parcel ID: 0117-0023-0000, 72 Marys Road, David & Daniel McInnis
• Parcel ID: 0118-0051-0000, 90 Burma Road, Daniel Cave

DEMO PERMIT 
• Parcel ID: 0118-0051-0000, 90 Burma Road, Daniel Cave

Consent Agenda: MOTION to approve CZCs, Land Disturbance, and Demo Permit made 
by Member Hathorn, seconded by Member Trow. All voted in favor. 

Chair Wallace recused herself from the Board. 

LAND USE CHANGE TAX 
• Parcel ID : 0239-0019-0000 Messer Road , George C. & Deborah A. Grant
• Parcel ID : 0140-0022-0000 68 Burkehaven Lane, Compass Point, LLC.
• Parcel ID : 0203-0007-0006 121 Granite Ridge, Norris Revocable Trust
• Parcel ID : 0203-0007-0007 Granite Ridge, Kirk & Colleen Bruns

Draft



 
Consent Agenda: MOTION to approve Land Use Change Tax made by Member Trow, 
seconded by Member Gallup. All voted in favor, with one abstention.  
 
Chair Wallace returned to the Board.  
 

CHARITABLE EXEMPTION 
• Lake Sunapee Protective Association 
• Sunapee Heritage Alliance 
• Sunapee NH Historical Society 
• YMCA Camp Coniston  

 
RELIGIOUS EXEMPTION 

• Lake Sunapee Baptist Church 
• Our Lady of Unity 
• St. James Church Rector 
• St. James Epifocal Church 
• St. Joachims Catholic Church 
• Sunapee Methodist Church 

 
EDUCATIONAL EXEMPTION 

• Broom Family Foundation 
 

USE OF FACILITIES 
• Meagan Reed requesting use of Ben Mere / Bandstand on November 30th, 2023, 

from 6:00pm to 7:00pm for a Candlelight Vigil 
• Project Sunapee requesting use of Sunapee Harbor on December 9th, 2023, from 

12:00 p.m. to 5:00 p.m. for horse and wagon rides for a Christmas event at the Livery 
 
Consent Agenda: MOTION to approve Charitable Exemption, Religious Exemption, 
Educational Exemption, and Use of Facilities made by Member Hathorn, seconded by 
Member Gottling.  
 
The Board agreed the organizations under Charitable Exemptions are listed as non-profits. Chair 
Wallace noted the Board received a letter from Tanner Royce regarding the eligibility of the 
LSPA as a charitable exemption. Ms. Gottling said that all tax documentation were filed in a 
timely fashion.  
 
Mr. Royce noted the Town has the right not to grant a tax exemption, despite an organization's 
non-profit status. He provided a deposition where he said the former director stated they do not 
have legal funds in their budget, they can use their funds as they wish, and suing him does not 
further their mission of protecting the lake and watershed. He also pointed out the potential of a 
conflict of interest for a Select Board member. Ms. Gottling noted that this potential exists 
throughout the Town, with numerous Committee members donating to organizations they vote 
on.  
 

Draft



Chair Wallace asked if any Board member objected to the LSPA being considered as a charitable 
exemption for the Town. A discussion ensued regarding the concerns Mr. Royce voiced in his 
letter. Chair Wallace noted the letter has been read and is in the reading file for the public to see. 
Elizabeth Harper of the LSPA said it is a matter of record that they have filed their taxes. She 
shared a publication regarding their funding, their mission, and the services they are providing to 
the community.  
 
All voted in favor, with Member Hathorn abstaining.  

 
3. APPOINTMENTS 
 

7:00 – Laura Trow, Welfare Administrator  
Laura Trow appeared before the Board. She noted there have been multiple donations and 
would like to accept $5,841 in unanticipated revenue for use in the Food Pantry. She stated 
their primary goal is to improve the quality of the goods in the Weekend Backpack Program. 
She said proceeds from Empty Bowl are used for the Christmas program.  
 
MOTION to accept $5,841 into the Food Pantry from various donors made by Member 
Gallup, seconded by Member Trow. All voted in favor. 
 

4. PUBLIC COMMENT: (Public comments can be heard in full here, beginning at 7:05 p.m.) 
 

• Tanner Royce, 23 Central Street, thanked Mr. Hathorn for admitting he did not have 
time to read the documentation he submitted. He said Ms. Gottling called the LSPA and 
requested that the director appear at the meeting instead of reading the documentation. 
He said the LSPA does not have a line item for legal fees in their budget, which is why 
the former executive director is quoted as saying funds are fungible. He also said that in 
the deposition he provided there is discussion regarding why the LSPA is suing his 
family. He would like the Board to pay attention to these issues. He noted the Board 
does not have to grant the LSPA the right to act this way and to claim a charitable 
exemption. He said the LSPA is not using the funds as directed by their mission. He 
said Ms. Gottling has a conflict of interest in this issue and there are other instances in 
Town of issues regarding conflict of interest.  

• John Augustine, 296 Nutting Road  (via Zoom), said in recent minutes, it said the 
Select Board was surprised at the county tax assessment. He was surprised they would 
be surprised at anything coming out of the county, as the state representatives should be 
attending all county budget discussions and reporting back. He encouraged the Board 
to invite Representatives Tanner and Damon to an upcoming Board meeting to explain 
the large increase in the tax assessment and if this will occur again in the future. He 
would like to know if they have done anything to mitigate the increase. He also urged 
the Board to invite the School Superintendent to brainstorm on how the Town and 
School can work together to lower the operating costs of each organization. He was 
disappointed that during the discussion on November 7, there was no effort spent on 
how to be more efficient by working with other organizations. He said in a recent 
InterTown Record, it was stated the Town Manager said the Riverway properties get a 
lower property tax assessment because they are seasonal businesses. He does not 

Draft

https://townhallstreams.com/stream.php?location_id=30&id=55176


believe this is correct and believes there should be a discussion as to whether this is an 
accurate statement.  

• Chris Whitehouse reviewed a New Hampshire Department of Justice memo on Right 
to Know. He said the Town Right to Know form asks for information that is not 
required by law. He said the delivery aspect of the form is ridiculous and it should be 
done electronically. He said this is a process of obstruction. Regarding the comment on 
the form about "you can't prove that it's true," he said it's a public record and the public 
record is true. He said this needs to be reworded. He asked the Board if the things 
recommended in the watershed program for Perkins Pond were followed. He said the 
$2.3 million spent on the pond is a waste of money.  

• Lisa Hoekstra said Ms. Martinez and Ms. Wrenn have indicated there have been 
glitches with the STR management system and that the LSSTRA has heard from some 
STR owners that they have issues with the registration forms and processes. She said 
there are issues on both sides of the platform and asked for data on these issues. She 
would like the Town to collect fact-based information to be able to move forward. She 
said the Board is not making decisions based on logic. She said the threat of legal 
action from the Town against STR owners will not work, as case law is on the STR 
owners' side. She asked if the Town wants to continue to waste money on legal fees, as 
the cost is already too high. She said the LSSTRA has ideas to help the STR process 
move forward more smoothly, but they will not share them during public comment. 
They would like a dialogue with the Town Manager and others to share these ideas. 
She would like a discussion guided by a professional mediator to bring healing over the 
STR debacle.  

• Peter Hoekstra, 25 Maple Street, asked, regarding demolition permits, how the public 
can be assured that the hazardous materials in existing structures are removed prior to 
demolition. He does not think the Town abides by DES requirements. He formally 
requested that this be put on the agenda to discuss these requirements. He said a report 
was presented at the Planning/Zoning meeting that appeared to be written by the Upper 
Valley Lake Sunapee Regional Planning Commission. He confirmed that the report as 
entered in the agenda was written by a member of the Sunapee ZBA and presented by a 
member of the Planning Board. He said at the next Planning Board meeting, a 120-day 
cap for STR will be discussed. He shared data regarding home sales and statistics on 
STRs from a New Hampshire housing study. He asked that the Town base decisions on 
real data when discussing new regulations. 

• Christine Corey said she thinks the wording needs to be changed on the electronic 
copy authorization on the Right to Know form. She asked if this says that the data may 
or not be right. She said if the Town is supposed to be responsible for millions of 
dollars of taxpayers' money, the information the Town is keeping should be 100% 
correct. She would like the Board to move to reconsider the October 30th motion about 
the voting machines. She does not believe it was clear that there were two options. She 
would like the voters to decide which machine to use. The second option uses open 
source data, so there can be no secrets. She said the other machine is Dominion and the 
Board should do their research on this company.  

• Peter White asked if the CZCs were approved earlier and Chair White confirmed they 
were.  
  

Draft



5. SELECTBOARD ACTION 
 

Right to Know Policy Review 
Ms. Martinez noted this policy was approved by the Board in 2006. It has been reviewed by 
counsel, who verified it is what it needs to be. She noted that while the Town can provide 
information, such as a report, it cannot confirm or deny the source of the information. She 
said the policy is in line with what most other towns do. 

 
She said the intention is to cut down on the number of people looped in on the process as 
well as cut down the back-and-forth communication. She noted the process is being used for 
business purposes. The NHMA is aware that towns are receiving more Right to Know 
requests. They want to ensure the towns are lined up with the RSA as well as making sure 
extra requests, such as those being used for business purposes and not government 
transparency, are being handled correctly.  
 
She said a training guide provided by the Mitchell Municipal Group will be integrated into 
the new HR manual and policies. Department heads and those who communicate with the 
public need to take the Right to Know training.  
 
The Board asked Ms. Martinez to provide a document for the Board to sign off on, 
confirming they have reviewed the policy and associated information.  

 
Lisa Hoekstra reiterated the definition of information in the RSA says information provided 
should include other forms than written. Ms. Martinez said the Town has received guidance 
as to what constitutes a government record. She suggested these discussions could be held in 
other forums and this meeting is to discuss how the Board would like to move the policy 
forward.  

 
Chair Wallace asked the Board's opinion of having a Right to Know request online in a 
unidirectional format. Mr. Trow it should not preclude other ways of sharing the data, such as 
in person. Ms. Martinez clarified they are attempting to bring more organization to the 
process. Mr. Trow asked if there is a way to ensure the person requesting the information is 
the one who receives it, if they do not want to identify themselves. Ms. Martinez said this is 
not possible.  

 
Ms. Martinez verified that a government record must be in a physical form to be requested, 
per the RSA.  

 
The Board discussed why information cannot be emailed. Ms. Martinez said the Right to 
Know law says they are not required to deliver government records other than at the place 
where they work. She said it is also to ensure equity, that everyone is treated the same. The 
Board discussed the use of a USB drive to provide the requested information. They agreed to 
charge for copies in excess of $10 and not to charge for the USB drive.  

 
MOTION to readopt the Right to Know Information Request Policy, with the 
amendments that a USB stick to the tune of $10 will be provided by the Town or a 

Draft



customer can provide their own sealed one, and for printed hard copies, up to $10  
worth of page sides will be provided and beyond that is at the cost of 25 cents per side 
made by Member Trow, seconded by Member Gallup. All voted in favor.  

 
Certificate of Appointment – Jeffrey Kellner, Conservation Commission 

 
MOTION to accept the certificate of appointment for Jeffrey Kellner, Conservation 
Commission, and the resignation of Sylvia Kellner made by Member Trow, seconded by 
Member Hathorn. All voted in favor.  

 
6. TOWN MANAGER REPORT 
 

Court Date Set 

Docket No. 2023-0189, Appeal of Elizabeth Hoekstra and Peter Hoekstra, Court Date Set: 
November 29, 2023, at 10:00 a.m. 
 
Short-Term Rentals 

Ms. Martinez said they are tracking developments of the Planning Board’s amendment to 
Section 4.95, which would impact the number of rental days, occupancy limits, and Owner-
in-Residence / Not-in-Residence. There is a Planning Board meeting on November 16th to 
discuss this. Anything decided will become enforceable the day the Public Hearing is posted 
in the paper (December 7th).  

Mr. Gallup asked if the Select Board could meet with the Planning Board to discuss not 
enforcing the amendment, to give the process that's in place a chance to work. Mr. Trow 
noted the Board can discuss the amendments at their next meeting. He said they can provide 
input, but he felt it is not the Board's responsibility to tell Planning and Zoning how to do 
their jobs.  

Ms. Martinez reviewed the current STR registrations and the associated deadlines. The Board 
discussed the difficulties in obtaining registrations.  

Budget Day Follow-Up Meetings 

Proposed meetings to discuss the budget: November 27 and December 11, 2023. At the 
November 27th meeting, the team coming out of the budget meeting will provide a more 
comprehensive overview of the Town’s approach to compensation.   

2023 Selectboard Meeting Schedule: November 13 & 27, December 4 & 18 

2024 Selectboard Meeting Schedule: January 8 & 15, February 5  

Budget Public Hearing: January 8, 2024  

FY 2022 Audit 

Ms. Martinez provided hard copies for the Board's review and posted an e-copy online. She 
noted that many of the same findings have been repeated and suspects that FY23 will be 
much the same. With complete turnover in the Finance Department (two times over), they 

Draft



have not been able to cement the changes they want to implement. With a new team in place, 
they hope to see many good things happen in 2024.   

Muzzey Hill 

Ms. Martinez shared an update from the DOT regarding Muzzey Hill Road. They expect to 
begin working on the project in the summer of 2024. They sent a letter seeking feedback 
concerning any environmental concerns associated with this project. She will reach out to the 
Conservation Commission to discuss this further.   

Unanticipated Revenue 

Ms. Martinez reported receipt of $34,039.23 as part of a one-time road and bridge payment 
from the State of New Hampshire. A public hearing is needed to accept these funds. These 
monies may be used to provide services that repair, maintain, and construct municipal 
bridges; repair class IV and class V roads; advancing sidewalk construction adjacent to a 
Class V road.  

MOTION to set a Public Hearing at 6:30 p.m. on November 27, 2023, for accepting the 
block grant in the amount of $34,039.23 made by Member Trow, seconded by Member 
Hathorn. All voted in favor.  

Warrant Booklet/Town Vote Materials 

There have been 11 survey participants to date. Ms. Wrenn shared the results of these 
surveys.  

Of Note 

The Housing Appeals Board commended Allyson Traeger on the compilation and 
presentation of the KTP certified record and noted that she could give other Towns a course.  

The Highway Department was complimented for helping a resident resolve a concern that 
would hinder their receiving mail from the United States Postal Service.   

 
7. SELECTBOARD MEMBERS' REPORT 
 

Ms. Gottling responded to a statement made that was not true. She did not call the director of 
the LSPA and ask her to attend the Select Board meeting. She felt the director needed the 
opportunity to respond.  
 
Mr. Hathorn apologized for not having time to read Mr. Royce's document. He thanked the 
Highway Department for removing the bump on Prospect Hill Road.  

 
Chair Wallace asked what is causing the rash of accidents on Route 11 in Georges Mills. The 
Board agreed it is a bad intersection. She noted there has been a lot of discussion regarding 
conflict of interest and Board members recusing themselves. She does not feel any further 
discussion is needed. The Board agreed.  

 
8. UPCOMING MEETINGS 

 

Draft



• November 14, 2023, Recreation Committee Meeting – 7:00 p.m. 
• November 16, 2023, Planning Board Workshop – 6:30 p.m. 
• November 16, 2023, Abbott Library Trustees Meeting – 7:00 p.m. 
• November 17, 2023, Community Conversation with the Town Manager – Time TBD 
• November 27, 2023, Selectboard Meeting – 6:30 p.m. 

 
9. ADJOURNMENT 

 
The meeting was adjourned at 8:37 p.m. 
 
 

 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Beth Hanggeli 
Recording Secretary 

Draft



Account Source Estimated Revenue Change Amount
Estimated Revenue 

Adjusted

Taxes

3120 Land Use Change Tax - General Fund $6,500 $0 $6,500

3180 Resident Tax $0 $0 $0

3185 Yield Tax $1,000 $0 $1,000

3186 Payment in Lieu of Taxes $0 $0 $0

3187 Excavation Tax $0 $0 $0

3189 Other Taxes $0 $0 $0

3190 Interest and Penalties on Delinquent Taxes $30,000 $0 $30,000

9991 Inventory Penalties $0 $0 $0

Taxes Subtotal $37,500 $0 $37,500

Licenses, Permits, and Fees

3210 Business Licenses and Permits $1,280 $0 $1,280

3220 Motor Vehicle Permit Fees $1,020,000 $0 $1,020,000

3230 Building Permits $60,000 $0 $60,000

3290 Other Licenses, Permits, and Fees $20,800 $0 $20,800

3311-3319 From Federal Government $232,000 ($232,000) $0

Licenses, Permits, and Fees Subtotal $1,334,080 ($232,000) $1,102,080

State Sources

3351 Municipal Aid/Shared Revenues $0 $0 $0

3352 Meals and Rooms Tax Distribution $176,553 $140,762 $317,315

3353 Highway Block Grant $200,000 ($78,067) $121,933

3354 Water Pollution Grant $12,000 $0 $12,000

3355 Housing and Community Development $0 $0 $0

3356 State and Federal Forest Land Reimbursement $0 $0 $0

3357 Flood Control Reimbursement $0 $0 $0

3359 Other (Including Railroad Tax) $0 $21,921 $21,921

3379 From Other Governments $120,000 $0 $120,000

State Sources Subtotal $508,553 $84,616 $593,169

Charges for Services

3401-3406 Income from Departments $57,000 $0 $57,000

3409 Other Charges $6,200 $0 $6,200

Charges for Services Subtotal $63,200 $0 $63,200

Sunapee
For the period beginning January 1, 2023 and ending December 31, 2023

In accordance with RSA 21-J:35, the department is notifying you of the following changes in the estimated revenues 
used in computing the tax rate.

Page 1 of 3120700 Sunapee 2023 MS-434-R  11/16/2023 4:58:53 PM

New Hampshire
Department of

Revenue Administration

2023
MS-434-R

Revised Estimated Revenues Adjusted



Account Source Estimated Revenue Change Amount
Estimated Revenue 

Adjusted

Miscellaneous Revenues

3501 Sale of Municipal Property $11,000 $0 $11,000

3502 Interest on Investments $35,000 $0 $35,000

3503-3509 Other $9,000 $0 $9,000

Miscellaneous Revenues Subtotal $55,000 $0 $55,000

Interfund Operating Transfers In

3912 From Special Revenue Funds $0 $0 $0

3913 From Capital Projects Funds $0 $0 $0

3914A From Enterprise Funds: Airport (Offset) $0 $0 $0

3914E From Enterprise Funds: Electric (Offset) $227,683 $0 $227,683

3914O From Enterprise Funds: Other (Offset) $0 $0 $0

3914S From Enterprise Funds: Sewer (Offset) $1,344,887 $0 $1,344,887

3914W From Enterprise Funds: Water (Offset) $627,439 ($21,921) $605,518

3915 From Capital Reserve Funds $335,000 $0 $335,000

3916 From Trust and Fiduciary Funds $0 $0 $0

3917 From Conservation Funds $0 $0 $0

Interfund Operating Transfers In Subtotal $2,535,009 ($21,921) $2,513,088

Other Financing Sources

3934 Proceeds from Long Term Bonds and Notes $0 $2,148,000 $2,148,000

Other Financing Sources Subtotal $0 $2,148,000 $2,148,000

Total Revised Estimated Revenues and Credits $4,533,342 $1,978,695 $6,512,037

Page 2 of 3120700 Sunapee 2023 MS-434-R  11/16/2023 4:58:53 PM

New Hampshire
Department of

Revenue Administration

2023
MS-434-R

Revised Estimated Revenues Adjusted



Estimated Change Amount
State 

Adjusted

Subtotal of Revenues $4,533,342 $1,978,695 $6,512,037

Unassigned Fund Balance (Unreserved) $3,235,866 ($471,939) $2,763,927

(Less) Emergency Appropriations (RSA 32:11) $0 $0 $0

(Less) Voted from Fund Balance $3,800 $0 $3,800

(Less) Fund Balance to Reduce Taxes $850,000 $0 $850,000

Fund Balance Retained $2,382,066 ($471,939) $1,910,127

Total Revenues and Credits $5,387,142 $1,978,695 $7,365,837

Requested Overlay $0 $300,000 $300,000

Assessment Overview
Total Appropriations $12,393,363

(Less) Total Revenues and Credits $7,365,837

Net Assessment $5,027,526

Explanation of Adjustments
Account Reason for Adjustment Warrant Number

3311-3319 ACCEPTED AS UNANTICIPATED REV

3352 STATE REVENUE 16

3353 STATE REVENUE 16

3359 WTR FILT

3914W =MS232 #4914W-WTR FILT 16

3934 W/A #2 ,02

Page 3 of 3120700 Sunapee 2023 MS-434-R  11/16/2023 4:58:53 PM

New Hampshire
Department of

Revenue Administration

2023
MS-434-R

Revised Estimated Revenues Summary





Jurisdiction Tax Effort Valuation Tax Rate
Total

Municipal Tax Rate Calculation
Jurisdiction Tax Effort Valuation Tax Rate

Municipal $5,148,345 $2,396,653,812 $2.15
County $5,243,175 $2,396,653,812 $2.19
Local Education $10,094,815 $2,396,653,812 $4.21
State Education $2,678,474 $2,365,856,812 $1.13
Total $23,164,809 $9.68

Village Tax Rate Calculation

2023
$9.68

New Hampshire
Department of

Revenue 
Administration

Tax Rate Breakdown
Sunapee

Tax Commitment Calculation
Total Municipal Tax Effort $23,164,809
War Service Credits ($75,000)
Village District Tax Effort
Total Property Tax Commitment $23,089,809

11/17/2023

Sam Greene
Director of Municipal and Property Division
New Hampshire Department of Revenue Administration

1 of 4Director-Approved Final Tax Rate - Sunapee 11/17/2023 4:00:24 PM



Appropriations and Revenues
Municipal Accounting Overview

Description Appropriation Revenue
Total Appropriation $12,393,363
Net Revenues (Not Including Fund Balance) ($6,512,037)
Fund Balance Voted Surplus ($3,800)
Fund Balance to Reduce Taxes ($850,000)
War Service Credits $75,000
Special Adjustment $0
Actual Overlay Used $45,819
Net Required Local Tax Effort $5,148,345

County Apportionment
Description Appropriation Revenue

Net County Apportionment $5,243,175
Net Required County Tax Effort $5,243,175

Education
Description Appropriation Revenue

Net Local School Appropriations $12,773,289

Valuation
Municipal (MS-1)

Description Current Year Prior Year
Total Assessment Valuation with Utilities $2,396,653,812 $1,481,348,412
Total Assessment Valuation without Utilities $2,365,856,812 $1,456,025,412
Commercial/Industrial Construction Exemption $0 $0
Total Assessment Valuation with Utilities, Less Commercial/Industrial Construction Exemption $2,396,653,812 $1,481,348,412

Village (MS-1V)
Description Current Year

Net Cooperative School Appropriations
Net Education Grant $0
Locally Retained State Education Tax ($2,678,474)
Net Required Local Education Tax Effort $10,094,815
State Education Tax $2,678,474
State Education Tax Not Retained $0
Net Required State Education Tax Effort $2,678,474

2 of 4Director-Approved Final Tax Rate - Sunapee 11/17/2023 4:00:24 PM



No associated Villages to report

Sunapee
Tax Commitment Verification

2023 Tax Commitment Verification - RSA 76:10 II
Description Amount

Total Property Tax Commitment $23,089,809
1/2% Amount $115,449
Acceptable High $23,205,258
Acceptable Low $22,974,360

If the amount of your total warrant varies by more than 1/2%, the MS-1 form used to calculate the tax rate might not be 
correct. The tax rate will need to be recalculated. Contact your assessors immediately and call us at 603.230.5090 before 
you issue the bills. See RSA 76:10, II

Commitment Amount

Less amount for any applicable Tax Increment Financing Districts (TIF)

Net amount after TIF adjustment

Under penalties of perjury, I verify the amount above was the 2023 commitment amount on the property 
tax warrant.

Tax Collector/Deputy Signature: Date:

Submit this signed verification form with a copy of the completed and signed warrant total page and an actual tax bill to your DRA municipal auditor.Requirements for Semi-Annual Billing
Pursuant to RSA 76:15-a

76:15-a Semi-Annual Collection of Taxes in Certain Towns and Cities - I. Taxes shall be collected in the following manner 
in towns and cities which adopt the provisions of this section in the manner set out in RSA 76:15-b. A partial payment of 
the taxes assessed on April 1 in any tax year shall be computed by taking the prior year's assessed valuation times 1/2 of 
the previous year's tax rate; provided, however, that whenever it shall appear to the selectmen or assessors that certain 
individual properties have physically changed in valuation, they may use the current year's appraisal times 1/2 the 
previous year's tax rate to compute the partial payment.

Sunapee Total Tax Rate Semi-Annual Tax Rate
Total 2023 Tax Rate $9.68 $4.84

Associated Villages

3 of 4Director-Approved Final Tax Rate - Sunapee 11/17/2023 4:00:24 PM



Fund Balance Retention
Enterprise Funds and Current Year Bonds $4,326,088
General Fund Operating Expenses $26,083,739
Final Overlay $45,819

DRA has provided a reference range of fund balance retention amounts below. Please utilize these ranges in the 
determination of the adequacy of your municipality’s unrestricted fund balance, as currently defined in GASB Statement 
54.  Retention amounts, as part of the municipality’s stabilization fund policy [1], should be assessed dependent upon 
your governments own long-term forecasts and special circumstances.  Please note that current best practices published 
by GFOA recommend, at a minimum, that “…general purpose governments, regardless of size, maintain unrestricted 
fund balance in their general fund of no less than two months of regular general fund operating revenues or regular 
general fund operating expenditures.” [2],[3]
[1] The National Advisory Council on State and Local Budgeting (NACSLB), (1998), Framework for Improved State and Local Government Budgeting: Recommended Budget Practices (4.1), pg. 17.
[2] Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA), (2015), Best Practice: Fund Balance Guidelines for the General Fund..
[3] Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA), (2011), Best Practice: Replenishing General Fund Balance.

2023 Fund Balance Retention Guidelines: Sunapee
Description Amount

Current Amount Retained (7.32%) $1,910,127
17% Retained (Maximum Recommended) $4,434,236
10% Retained $2,608,374
8% Retained $2,086,699
5% Retained (Minimum Recommended) $1,304,187

4 of 4Director-Approved Final Tax Rate - Sunapee 11/17/2023 4:00:24 PM





11/17/23, 7:59 AM Mail - Town Manager - Outlook

https://outlook.office.com/mail/inbox/id/AAMkADM2NDk3M2UyLTljMmEtNGI4YS05YWUyLTczNjhkNDljMWM5ZABGAAAAAADbE2WuS1o%2FSpvV4… 1/2

[EXTERNAL]FW: FW: [EXTERNAL]FW: Dewey Woods Project - Update

Van Webb <vanowebb@gmail.com>
Fri 11/17/2023 7:54 AM
To: Town Manager <manager@town.sunapee.nh.us>; Allyson Traeger <allyson@town.sunapee.nh.us> 
Cc: 'Matthias Nevins' <mnevins@meadowsendco.com> 

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open
attachments unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.

Shannon-
 
So you have some point of reference on the �mber tax issue I am sending you an es�mate of what we would
project for revenue for the town.
 

 
Van Webb
NH Licensed Forester #58
 
524 Stagecoach Road
Sunapee, NH 03782
O: 603.863.6493 | C: 603.543.7518
 
website | facebook | instagram

 
 
From: Ma�hias Nevins <mnevins@meadowsendco.com>
Sent: Thursday, November 16, 2023 7:38 AM
To: Van Webb <vanowebb@gmail.com>; 'Timothy Fleury' <�mothyfleury@gmail.com>
Subject: RE: FW: [EXTERNAL]FW: Dewey Woods Project - Update
 
Hi All,
 
 
I think it would be fair to say the timber tax would be around $200 based on the volume I estimated and
the most recent stumpage report for the central region.
 

Species Product Sale
Volume Unit  Stumpage  Estimated value 

White pine Sawlog 6 MBF $     150.00
 $                 
900.00

White pine Box 2 MBF $      15.00
 $                   
30.00

Hemlock Sawlog 0.5 MBF $      30.00
 $                   
15.00

White ash Sawlog 2 MBF $     200.00
 $                 
400.00

Red oak Sawlog 2 MBF $     200.00
 $                 
400.00

https://www.hardinghillfarm.com/
https://www.facebook.com/hardinghillfarmnh/
https://www.instagram.com/hardinghillfarm


11/17/23, 7:59 AM Mail - Town Manager - Outlook

https://outlook.office.com/mail/inbox/id/AAMkADM2NDk3M2UyLTljMmEtNGI4YS05YWUyLTczNjhkNDljMWM5ZABGAAAAAADbE2WuS1o%2FSpvV4… 2/2

Red maple Sawlog 1 MBF $      80.00
 $                   
80.00

Other
hardwood Pallet 2 MBF $      35.00

 $         
          70.00

Total
Sawlogs  15.5 MBF $                         -  
Hardwood Firewood 11.5 Tons/cords $      10.00  $                  115.00

Softwood Pulp 30 Tons $        1.00
 $                   
30.00

Mixed Chips 90 Tons  $        0.25
 $                   
22.50

Total pulp  150 Tons
TOTAL

 $              
2,062.50

 %10 Tax 
 $                 
206.25

 
 

 

Matthias Nevins
Forester

 

New Hampshire Licensed Forester #518
Vermont Licensed Forester #148.0134027
NRCS Certified Technical Service Provider #21-23611
 Mobile: 603.568.7480                                 
Office:  603.526.8686                                    
420 Main Street
P.O. Box 966
New London NH, 03257
mnevins@meadowsendco.com         
meadowsendco.com     

 

mailto:mnevins@meadowsendco.com
http://meadowsendco.com/




STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE

HOUSING APPEALS BOARD

Case No. ZBA-2023-21

KTP Cottage, LLC

v.

Town of Sunapee

TOWN OF SUNAPEE’S PRE-HEARING MEMORANDUM

NOW COMES the Town of Sunapee (the “Town”), by and through its attorney, and

submits this memorandum of law in advance of the November 21, 2023, hearing on the merits in

this matter.

Summary

This is an appeal pursuant to RSA 677:4 and RSA 679:7 of a decision of the Town’s

zoning board of adjustment (“ZBA”) denying the petitioner's request for a rehearing of the

ZBA’s denial of three variances. The ZBA reasonably considered the facts of the case and the

statutory variance criteria and found that the application did not satisfy the criteria. The board did

not commit an error of law, and its decision was reasonable. Therefore, the ZBA’s decision

should be upheld.

Background

The petitioner owns a 0.33-acre lot (the “Property”) in the Town’s Rural Residential

zoning district. The Property currently contains an approximately 2,394-square-foot single-story,

single-family home. The existing building is non-conforming with respect to setback



requirements under the Town’s zoning ordinance (the “Ordinance”), both from an adjacent

property and from its frontage on Lake Sunapee. The petitioner proposed replacing the existing

home with a much larger one, approximately 3,974 square feet and 33 feet tall. The proposal

would expand the building footprint, although it would also reduce, very slightly, the

encroachment into the side setback and the waterfront setback. See Certified Record (hereinafter

“CR”) at 9-10.

The petitioner requested variances because the new building would encroach into the

15-foot side setback and the 50-foot waterfront setback.1 In addition, while the Ordinance’s

general height limit is 40 feet, it is 25 feet for properties that are allowed a reduced setback

because of inadequate lot size, which is the case with the Property. Thus, the petitioner also

sought a variance from the 25-foot height limit. See id. The ZBA denied the variances because it

found that (1) the variances would violate the spirit of the ordinance; (2) the petitioner had not

established an unnecessary hardship; and (3) the variances would diminish the values of

surrounding properties. See id. at 218-20.

Standard of Review

In an appeal from a decision of a land use board, “[t]he [Housing Appeals] board shall

not reverse or modify a decision except for errors of law or if the board is persuaded by the

balance of probabilities, on the evidence before it, that said decision is unreasonable.” RSA

679:9. Thus, the question is not whether the Housing Appeals Board might have made a different

decision. The question is whether the ZBA could reasonably have reached the decision it did

based on the evidence before it, even if someone else might have reached a different decision.

1 The house on the Property is a pre-existing non-conforming structure. If the petitioner were proposing to
replace the house in the same or smaller building envelope, setback variances would not be required,
“provided ⋯the new structure stays within the horizontal footprint of the existing structure.” See
Ordinance § 6.12, CR at 126. Because the new house is not within the existing footprint, variances are
required for both the side setback and the waterfront setback.

2



See Appeal of Chichester Commons, 175 N.H. 412, 416 (2022) (“The HAB's review is not

whether it agrees with the . . . board's findings, but, rather, whether there is evidence in the

record upon which the . . . board could have reasonably based its findings.”).

Argument

The ZBA Acted Reasonably in Denying the Variance.

A zoning board of adjustment should grant a variance if:

(A) The variance will not be contrary to the public interest;
(B) The spirit of the ordinance is observed;
(C) Substantial justice is done;
(D) The values of surrounding properties are not diminished; and
(E) Literal enforcement of the provisions of the ordinance would result in an unnecessary
hardship.

RSA 674:33, I(a)(2). An applicant for a variance “bears the burden of demonstrating that all five

criteria are met.” Perreault v. Town of New Hampton, 171 N.H. 183, 186 (2018). If the applicant

fails to establish any one or more of the criteria, the variance should be denied. See id. at 189-90.

Thus, if the ZBA could reasonably have found that any one of the criteria was not established, its

denial of the variances was proper.

A. The Board Could Reasonably Have Found that the Variances Would Violate the Spirit
of the Ordinance.

One reason for the ZBA’s denial of the variances was a finding that granting them would

violate the spirit of the Ordinance. Three members of the board expressly cited this in voting to

deny the variances, see CR at 218-20, and a fourth cited it implicitly, see id. at 219 (statement of

member David Munn, agreeing with Chairman Claus’s vote “just the way you’ve answered it”).

The test for whether a variance conflicts with the spirit of a zoning ordinance is whether

it would “unduly and in a marked degree conflict with the ordinance such that it violates the

ordinance’s basic zoning objectives.” Perreault, 171 N.H. at 186. The obvious “zoning

3

https://plus.lexis.com/document?pdmfid=1530671&pddocfullpath=%2Fshared%2Fdocument%2Fcases%2Furn%3AcontentItem%3A6697-5X31-JFSV-G3S4-00000-00&pdcontentcomponentid=373135&prid=22203e3b-1aca-483d-aefc-04c156224149&crid=34f6110c-8769-4441-bebf-40a0c0800fb4&pdisdocsliderrequired=true&pdpeersearchid=e8f7c84e-6621-4488-9317-b554a67a2e4f-1&ecomp=2g4tk&earg=pdsf#


objective” of the setback requirements in the Ordinance, as in any zoning ordinance, is to prevent

overcrowding, which the supreme court has recognized as a legitimate purpose. See id. at 188.

1. The Proposal Violates the Ordinance’s Basic Zoning Objectives.

The court in Perreault upheld a ZBA decision denying a variance to place a shed within a

20-foot-wide setback on a 0.3-acre lot on the shore of Lake Waukewan. The court held that “the

ZBA did not act unreasonably or unlawfully when it ‘focused on the aesthetic environment of the

neighborhood and the desire to avoid the appearance of overcrowding’” in determining that the

variance would violate the spirit of the ordinance. See id. (quoting superior court decision). The

ZBA had found that granting the variance would jeopardize one of the purposes of the setback

requirements: preventing overbuilding on lots. The court upheld this finding. See id. at 189.

Similarly, in Nine A, LLC v. Town of Chesterfield, 157 N.H. 361 (2008), a landowner

wanted to subdivide a parcel on Spofford Lake into several lots that would not meet the zoning

district’s minimum lot size or frontage requirements. The ZBA denied the variances, and the

superior court affirmed the denial, noting that the town had adopted the overlay district

specifically to protect the lake from over-development. See id. at 368. In affirming the superior

court’s decision, the supreme court stated that the lot size and frontage requirements “evidence

an intent to reduce the density of buildings in that region. . . . [The proposed development] would

contribute to lakeside congestion and overdevelopment. . . . The ZBA could reasonably have

found that proposal to be contrary to the public interest and inconsistent with the spirit of the

ordinance.” Id. at 368-69.

In contrast, the court has upheld the granting of variances, or has reversed the denial of

variances, in cases where the proposed use did not conflict with the goals the zoning restriction

was intended to achieve, or where the neighborhood had evolved in such a way that the

4



restriction no longer served its purpose. See, e.g., Labrecque v. Salem, 128 N.H. 455, 459 (1986)

(spirit of ordinance not violated by variance allowing commercial use in residential district

where proposed use was less intense than what was allowable on surrounding lots); U-Haul Co.

v. Concord, 122 N.H. 910, 912-13 (1982) (spirit of ordinance would not be violated by one

apartment for resident manager of commercial property, given that apartment would have less

impact than multi-family dwellings, which were permitted in the district); Belanger v. Nashua,

121 N.H. 389, 393 (1981) (variance to allow expansion of real estate office in residential district

would not violate spirit of ordinance where neighborhood had undergone significant change from

the time it was zoned for single-family residential use).

The present case has nothing in common with the latter cases and everything in common

with Perreault and Nine A. Like those cases, this one involves an ordinance intended to prevent

overbuilding on small lots, especially in the vicinity of Lake Sunapee. Building a larger, taller

house in the setback is in direct conflict with that purpose.

2. The Proposal Would Not Reduce the Nonconformity With the Ordinance.

The petitioner has consistently argued that “the Proposal reduces the overall

nonconformity on the Property,” and therefore is “intrinsically consistent with the spirit of the

ordinance.” Petition❡ 26 (emphasis in original). The supreme court has rejected this argument,

stating that although there may be situations where reducing the nonconformity with an

ordinance indicates that the spirit of the ordinance is observed, this is not necessarily the case. If

it were, a property owner could “put a property to any nonconforming use, regardless of the

intent of the ordinance.” Nine A, 157 N.H. at 367.

Moreover, the ZBA could reasonably have found that the development would not reduce

the overall nonconformity. Although the proposal moves the house back a few feet from the lake

5



and makes a very slight reduction in the square footage within the side setback, see CR at 20, it

also creates a new nonconformity–the violation of the height limit. Thus, the claim of a reduced

nonconformity is debatable at best.

Further, while the proposal reduces the footprint within the side setback, it moves the

house closer to the building on the abutting lot, and it increases the height, and therefore the

volume, of the building within the setback. At the hearing, abutter Brad Nichols “Unidentified

Speaker”) explained, “The request states that less area in side lot setback, and they're talking

about 55 square feet. The height is increasing the cubic footage inside the setback, and the total

living area when you're talking about cubic footage, the height is going from the 17 foot high

building to a, someone said 27, 28 feet, a two-story building, and that's putting a lot of area right

against our property line.” CR at 207-08. The petitioner never disputed that statement.

Thus, to suggest that the proposal reduces the nonconformity is at best an incomplete

statement. As far as the effect on neighbors and the intent of the ordinance, the proposal appears

to increase the nonconformity, at least in “spirit,” by putting more building volume closer to the

neighbors’ house. In light of that, the ZBA certainly could reasonably find that granting the

variances would violate the spirit of the ordinance. While it is possible that a reasonable person

could disagree, it cannot be said that the board’s decision on this point was unreasonable. The

board’s finding on this criterion was enough, by itself, to require denial of the variance and is

sufficient to sustain the board’s decision.

B. The Board Could Reasonably Have Found that There Was No Unnecessary Hardship.

1. The Board Did Not Apply the Wrong Hardship Standard.

The petitioner’s first argument on the hardship criterion is that the ZBA applied the

wrong standard to determine unnecessary hardship. The petitioner states:

6



The Board's decision on whether there would be an unnecessary hardship focused [on]
whether the Proposal "was a need or a want" as Board members characterized it. The
Board found there was not a hardship because the Applicant did not "need" to replace the
Existing Residence or, alternatively, could replace the Existing Residence with a structure
of a different design that did not require variances.

See Petition for Appeal❡ 23.

It is true that the hardship standard does not require proof that the applicant is unable to

use the property without a variance. It used to be the law that the unnecessary hardship standard

required proof that the property owner could not make any reasonable use of the property

without a variance. See Governor’s Island Club v. Gilford, 124 N.H. 126, 130 (1984), overruled

by Simplex Technologies v. Town of Newington, 145 N.H. 727 (2001). Since the Simplex decision

and a 2009 statutory amendment, “unnecessary hardship” means that, “owing to special

conditions of the property that distinguish it from other properties in the area: (A) no fair and

substantial relationship exists between the general public purposes of the ordinance provision

and the specific application of that provision to the property; and (B) the proposed use is a

reasonable one.” RSA 674:33, I(b)(1).

It is also true that one ZBA member made several references to whether the petitioner

“needed” the variance or merely “wanted” the variance, see CR at 168, 216, and that other

members used some imprecise language when discussing the hardship standard, see id. at

189-91. There is also language in the board’s decision, see id. at 53, indicating that “viable

alternatives exist” without the need for the variances, which admittedly is not the standard. It is

not surprising or unusual that a board of five volunteer laypersons would struggle with the

language of unnecessary hardship, which is a complicated subject even for lawyers. But what

matters here is that to the extent any board members may have misunderstood or misstated the

standard, that did not affect the outcome of the case.

7



What all of the members did clearly and correctly understand was that the first step in

proving unnecessary hardship is to demonstrate, as the statute requires, that there are “special

conditions of the property that distinguish it from other properties in the area.” RSA 674:33,

I(b)(1). If the applicant cannot demonstrate “special conditions,” that is the end of the

inquiry–there is no unnecessary hardship, regardless of the reasonableness of any existing or

proposed use. See Garrison v. Town of Henniker, 154 N.H. 26, 32-35 (2006) (superior court

properly reversed ZBA’s grant of variance where property owner failed to establish uniqueness

of property).

The board members in this case followed the law, concluding that there were no special

conditions, and therefore no hardship. Board member Jamie Silverstein stated, “[I]t really doesn’t

matter how reasonable, and I put that in quotes, the use can be or may be. Without special

conditions there is no hardship. And if the land does not have any special conditions, we can’t

even get to the hardship discussion.” CR at 213. She made the same statement a minute later. See

id. at 213-14 (“But we don’t even get to that [hardship] test until we establish that there are

special conditions.”) Chairman Claus (whose name is misspelled in the transcript) made similar

observations. See id. at 179 (“But what I think we’re all kind of struggling with is the hardship

here because we are not seeing that what’s unique.”); id. at 192-93.

Later, Ms. Silverstein moved to deny the variances. In voting for her own motion, she

said, “I don't feel the applicant has established special conditions of the property that distinguish

it from other properties in the area. And that's pretty much where the test ends. It's not even

about hardship. There's nothing to distinguish this property from the other properties.” Id. at 218.

Chairman Claus said that he agreed and voted to deny the variances, as did other board members,

for that reason among others. See id. at 218-20.

8



Thus, even if there was some confusion about the “reasonableness” element of the

hardship standard, it did not matter, because the board did not need to get to that issue. If it could

reasonably find that there were no special conditions of the property, it could properly conclude

that there was no unnecessary hardship.

2. The ZBA Could Reasonably Have Found There Were No Special Conditions.

The New Hampshire Supreme Court has explained the “special conditions” requirement

as follows:

The [hardship] factor "requires a determination of whether the hardship is a result of the
unique setting of the property." The applicant must show that "the hardship is a result of
specific conditions of the property and not the area in general." The property must be
"burdened by the zoning restriction in a manner that is distinct from other similarly
situated property." While this does not require that the property be the only such
burdened property, "the burden cannot arise as a result of the zoning ordinance's equal
burden on all property in the district." The burden must "arise from the property and not
from the individual plight of the landowner."

Garrison, 154 N.H. at 32-33 (citations omitted) (quoting Harrington v. Town of Warner, 152

N.H. 74, 80-81 (2005)).

The petitioner in this case claimed that the Property had several “special conditions”: (1)

its small size; (2) its wedge shape; (3) its location next to a much larger property; (4) the

“deteriorating” condition of the existing house; and (5) the slope of the property. See CR at 60-62

(Motion for Rehearing), 174-76 (ZBA hearing transcript). However, the ZBA could reasonably

have concluded that these factors did not constitute “special conditions” sufficient to satisfy the

hardship test.

(a) Small Size.

The Property is small – 0.33 acre – but so are many of the lots in its vicinity. The maps

filed by the petitioner, see CR at 69-70 (Exhibit 1 to Motion for Rehearing), appear to show that

most of the lots in the area are that size or smaller. In fact, of the first six lots to the east of the

9



Property, five are the same size or smaller, and one is only slightly larger–0.39 acre. See id. at 69.

There are well over a dozen more within a quarter-mile that are the same size or smaller. See id.

at 70. Although there is no clear statement in the statute or case law as to what constitutes the

relevant “area” for purposes of the “special conditions” test, a reasonable person looking at these

maps could certainly conclude that the size of the petitioner’s lot did not “distinguish it from

other properties in the area.”

(b) Wedge Shape.

Every one of the first six lots to the east of the Property is wedge-shaped, see id. at 69, as

are many others in the area, see id. at 70. Again, a reasonable person could conclude that the

Property’s wedge shape did not distinguish it from other properties in the area.

(c) Location Next to a Larger Property.

The petitioner argued before the ZBA that one of the special conditions of the Property is

that the lot immediately to the west (Lot 43 on the map, see id. at 69) is much larger, and “the

building on that lot is not in immediate proximity to the building site on the Property,” so that

encroaching on the setback does not create the same concern about crowding that would exist

with a smaller lot on that side. See id. at 61 (Motion for Rehearing), 182, 193 (hearing

transcript). This is an unusual argument. The Town is not aware of any case that has recognized

the size of a neighboring property as a special condition, and this board would be breaking new

ground by recognizing such a possibility.

Further, although the neighboring lot is more than twice the size of the Property, it is still

a small, non-conforming lot: 0.83 acre in a district with a minimum lot size of 1.5 acres. See

Ordinance section 3.10, CR at 95. While the house on that lot is not “in immediate proximity” to

the proposed building site on the Property, it is actually almost on the line between the two

10



properties, see CR at 69, and the petitioner’s proposal would move his house closer to the

neighbors’ house. The owners of Lot 43 stated at the hearing that if they ever chose to rebuild on

their property, they would want to do so in the area close to where the petitioner was proposing

to build his expanded house. Thus, granting the variances would create the same concern with

crowding that the setback requirements were designed to avoid.

(d) “Deteriorating” Condition of Existing House.

This is another unusual argument. Again, the Town is not aware of any case that has

categorized a building’s deteriorating condition as a special condition that can establish an

unnecessary hardship. If this were permitted, any property owner could establish a hardship

merely by letting the property fall into disrepair. This makes no sense.

(e) Slope of the Property.

The petitioner talked about the steep slope of the Property as a “special condition,” see id.

at 175, 193, and it certainly is possible that a property’s slope could constitute a special condition

for purposes of the variance standard. The problem is that the petitioner never proved, or even

claimed, that the slope of the Property was any greater or more burdensome than that of any

other property in the area. The “special conditions” of the property must be such as to

“distinguish it from other properties in the area.” RSA 674:33, I(b)(1). They must make the

property “unique in its surroundings.” Garrison, 154 N.H. at 35.

Here, the petitioner claimed that the steep slope made complying with the ordinance

difficult, but offered no evidence that the difficulty was any greater than it would be for any other

property in the area. For all anyone knows, surrounding properties may have steeper slopes–there

simply was no evidence on this point. In the absence of such evidence, the ZBA not only could

find that the slope was not a special condition, it was required to do so.

11



(f) Summary.

Every applicant for a variance can identify some characteristics of his or her property that

are unusual. In Bacon v. Town of Enfield, 150 N.H. 468 (2004), two dissenting justices argued

that “[t]he fact that other properties in the zoning district contain some or even all of the same

characteristics does not negate a particular property's uniqueness” – in essence, it doesn’t matter

whether all other properties have the same conditions. Id. at 482. Had this view ever been

adopted by the full court, it “would have effectively eviscerated the statute’s ‘special conditions’

requirement.” 15 P. Loughlin, New Hampshire Practice: Land Use Planning and Zoning, § 24.20

(LexisNexis Matthew Bender) (4th ed.). But the court firmly rejected it in Garrison and other

cases. The property must be "burdened by the zoning restriction in a manner that is distinct from

other similarly situated property."

The petitioner did his best to identify characteristics of the Property that could qualify as

“special conditions,” but failed to prove that these characteristics resulted in a burden on the

Property that is any greater than on surrounding properties. While a reasonable person might

have concluded that the Property had special conditions that met the hardship standard, it

certainly was not unreasonable for the ZBA to conclude that it did not. Because the board

reasonably concluded that there were no special conditions, it was reasonable to find that there

was no unnecessary hardship, and this alone justified denial of the variances.

D. The ZBA Could Reasonably Have Found that Surrounding Property Values Would Be
Diminished.

“The variance applicant bears the burden of demonstrating that all five criteria are met.”

Perreault, 171 N.H. at 186. This includes demonstrating that the values of surrounding properties

will not be diminished.

12



1. The Only Evidence on this Issue Supported the Board’s Decision.

The petitioner did not offer any evidence, either before or during the hearing, about the

effect of the proposal on surrounding property values. The variance application merely included

a statement that the development would, if anything, improve surrounding property values by

replacing a deteriorating building with a newer, more aesthetically pleasing building. See CR at

12. The petitioner did not even address the issue at the hearing.

In contrast, there was testimony from an abutter that the development would negatively

affect his property. Mr. Nichols stated, “We view that increased cubic footage in the setback as

doing harm to our property.” Id. at 208; see also id. at 210 (“We think that increasing the cubic

footage in the offset is doing harm to our property, and we are opposed.”) Although he did not

explicitly use the words “property value,” any “harm” to one’s property would necessarily affect

the property’s value.

The supreme court has recognized that the opinions of neighboring property owners are

relevant on this criterion. See U-Haul Co., 122 N.H. at 912 (where no surrounding property

owners objected to variance, this was “some indication” of effect on property values). Here, the

opinion of the abutter was the only evidence offered. This was sufficient for the board to find

that there could be a diminution in property values. See Harborside Assocs. v. Parade Residence

Hotel, 162 N.H. 508, 519 (2011) (it is for the ZBA to resolve conflicts in evidence regarding

effect on property values).

“In reaching its decision, the ZBA was also entitled to rely upon its own knowledge,

experience and observations.” Id.; accord Nestor v. Town of Meredith Zoning Board of

Adjustment, 138 N.H. 632, 636 (1994). The ZBA in this case did that. In voting to deny the

variances, member James Lyons stated:

13



I am concerned about the value of the surrounding properties. Certainly to go from a
home that is 17 feet high on my property line to one that is 27, 28 feet high is going to
affect what I do with that property. It certainly would affect a neighbor or if I decide to
sell the property. Someone's like, “That's guy's looking right into my living room”; so I'd
be concerned about that.

CR at 219-20. That is a reasonable conclusion an ordinary person is entitled to make based upon

his experience and observations as a homeowner. Chairman Claus also said that it “would

diminish surrounding property values . . . because of proximity and the side setbacks,” id. at

218-19, and member David Munn agreed, see id. Especially given that the petitioner offered no

evidence to the contrary, this was a proper basis for the board to conclude that the petition had

failed to meet his burden on this issue.

2. Testimony from Real Estate Agents Was Too Late to be Considered.

With his motion for rehearing, the petitioner offered letters from two real estate agents

expressing the opinion that the proposed redevelopment would not diminish surrounding

property values. See CR at 75-78. However, this evidence was presented too late to be

considered, and the rehearing was properly denied.

The purpose of the rehearing process is to give the ZBA the “opportunity to pass upon

any alleged errors in its decisions.” Fisher v. Boscawen, 121 N.H. 438, 440 (1981); accord

Pelletier v. City of Manchester, 150 N.H. 687, 690 (2004). It is not to afford parties an

opportunity to present evidence they could have presented at the first hearing. Otherwise, there

would be no finality to the process.

As a general rule, rehearings should be granted only if the petitioner can demonstrate that
the board committed technical error or that there is new evidence that was not available
at the time of the first hearing. Such new evidence should reflect a change in conditions
which occurred subsequent to the original hearing or which was unavailable at the time of
the original hearing. It should not be evidence which was available but not produced due
to [the] applicant’s lack of preparation.

14



15 P. Loughlin, supra, § 21.18 (emphasis added); see also N.H. Department of Business and

Economic Affairs, The Zoning Board of Adjustment in New Hampshire–A Handbook for Local

Officials at IV-3 (2022) ( “[N]o purpose is served by granting a rehearing unless the petitioner

claims a technical error has been made to his detriment or he can produce new evidence that was

not available to him at the time of the first hearing.”) (emphasis added).

The only evidence on property values offered at the hearing came from the abutter, and,

as the supreme court has stated, ZBA members may rely on their own knowledge on this issue.

Because there was no evidence to support the claim that the variances would not diminish

surrounding property values, the ZBA’s finding that this criterion was not satisfied was

reasonable. On this basis alone, it was proper for the ZBA to deny the variances.

Conclusion

The ZBA denied the petitioner’s requested variances because it found that (1) the

variances would violate the spirit of the Ordinance; (2) the petitioner did not identify “special

conditions” of the property and thus failed to establish an unnecessary hardship; and (3) granting

the variances would diminish the value of surrounding properties. While it is conceivable that

others might have reached different conclusions on any one of these criteria, it cannot be said

that the ZBA’s conclusions were unreasonable based on the evidence presented. If the ZBA’s

decision on any one of these elements was reasonable, the decision must be upheld.

WHEREFORE, the Town of Sunapee respectfully requests the Board to:

A. Deny the relief requested by the applicants;

B. Affirm the decision of the ZBA; and

C. Grant such other relief as may be appropriate.

15











































































































































PRESS RELEASE  

CONTACT:  MARK DECOTEAU, CHAIR 

  COALITION COMMUNITIES, 2.0 

  603-254-8303 

COURT DECISION CALLS FOR FAILED FUNDING FORMULA & CREATION OF DONOR TOWNS 

Concord – Today’s Rand school funding decision by the Court was disappointing for municipalities 
throughout New Hampshire when it said that municipalities that raise tax revenue in their respective 
cities and towns cannot be retained by those communities to fund the decision making that those 
deliberative bodies made in their own hometowns and cities.   

“This is not a fair solution,” said Mark Decoteau, Chair of the Coalition Communities 2.0.  “To have a 
Court ruling say that the State of New Hampshire can legally take revenue from a community raised by 
taxpayers in that city or town and give it to another city or town without any accountability is just plain 
wrong.  This order is a “back to future” ruling that creates winners and losers with failed funding 
structure that has been rejected by the NH Legislature.    

“While the Coalition does not take issue with the Court’s decision ending the small number of negative 
tax rate communities, the decision to reinstitute the failed donor-received model is a serious mistake.  
The State has been down this road before and this Court’s methodology of pitting town against town 
with a proposal that is unequal in its application will only serve to bring about more acrimony and 
certainly more court challenges.  This method is not fair, it is not right and must not be allowed to be 
implemented again despite this decision.” 

“The Court’s decision also gets the New Hampshire constitution wrong.  The Legislature’s 2011 decision 
to end donor-receiver towns is not a tax but a spending decision by the Legislature.  Under our 
Constitution, the Legislature has the authority to fund education and wisely decided to spend education 
tax dollars in the local communities where the taxes were raised.” 

Coalition Communities 2.0 is an association of municipalities that have shared concerns regarding state 
education funding proposals, chief among them any re-consideration to have property tax receipts of 
one town being expended for another town’s education costs.  Decoteau went on to say, “The unfair 
redistribution of property tax revenue being raised in one town and expended in another has been tried 
in the past and it was an utter failure in terms of fairness and fiscal responsibility.  The State needs a 
new education formula that has a structure or guardrails so the State and its communities do not find 
themselves with the same (or similar) unfair funding system from the early 2000’s.” 

“Coalition Communities 2.0 appreciates the challenges in addressing school funding in our State.  We 
care deeply about ensuring a quality education for our children and we will continue our advocacy for a 
fair and comprehensive approach for education funding in New Hampshire.  Working with legislators, 
community leaders and the general public, our members are confident that an appropriate resolution 
can be developed that does not treat different towns disproportionately or differently” 

 

                                                                              #30 



THE STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE 
SUPERIOR COURT 

 

ROCKINGHAM, SS. SUPERIOR COURT 

 

 

 

Contoocook Valley School District, et al. 
 

v. 
 

The State of New Hampshire, et al. 
 

No. 213-2019-CV-00069 
 

 
 
“…it shall be the duty of the legislators and magistrates, in all future periods of this 

government, to cherish the interest of literature and the sciences, and all seminaries 

and public schools, to encourage private and public institutions, rewards, and 

immunities for the promotion of agriculture, arts, sciences, commerce, trades, 

manufactures, and natural history of the country…”  Part II, Article 83 N.H Constitution, 

June 2, 1784. 

 
Summary 

 
What is the base cost to provide the opportunity for an adequate education 239 

years after that fundamental right was ratified in our Constitution?  The short answer is 

that the Legislature should have the final word, but the base adequacy cost can be no 

less than $7356.01 per pupil per year and the true cost is likely much higher than that.  

At a minimum this is an increase of $537,550,970.95 in base adequacy aid to New 

Hampshire Schools.  Thus, the current allocation of $4100 per pupil is unconstitutional. 

ORDER ON THE MERITS 

In this case, the plaintiffs challenge the constitutionality of RSA 198:40-a, II(a), 

contending that “local school districts require substantially more funding” to “deliver the 

opportunity for a constitutionally adequate education, as defined in RSA 193-E:2-a . . . .”  

11/20/2023 11:07 AM
Rockingham Superior Court

This is a Service Document For Case: 213-2019-CV-00069



2 
 

Contoocook Valley Sch. Dist. v. State, 174 N.H. 154, 157 (2021) (“ConVal”).  The Court 

held a three-week bench trial on the matter in April of 2023.  During trial, the State 

moved for a directed verdict.  See Doc. 235; see also Doc. 236 (State’s Dir. Ver. Mem.); 

Doc. 238 (Pls.’ Obj. Doc. 235).  The Court took that motion under advisement, 

conditionally allowing trial to proceed.  Post-trial, the parties submitted legal 

memoranda.  See Doc. 242 (State’s Tr. Mem.); Doc. 244 (State’s Sep. Powers Mem.); 

Doc. 245 (Pls.’ Post-Tr. Mem.); see also Doc. 243 (State’s Req. Findings & Rulings).  

The Court has carefully considered the evidence presented at trial, the parties’ 

arguments, and the applicable law.  After review, the Court finds and rules as follows.1  

Background 

 Part II, Article 83 of the New Hampshire Constitution “imposes a duty on the 

State to provide a constitutionally adequate education to every educable child in the 

public schools in New Hampshire and to guarantee adequate funding.”  Claremont Sch. 

Dist. v. Governor, 138 N.H. 183, 184 (1993) (“Claremont I”).  To comply with that duty, 

the State must “define an adequate education, determine the cost, fund it with 

constitutional taxes, and ensure its delivery through accountability.”  Londonderry Sch. 

Dist. v. State, 154 N.H. 153, 155–56 (2006) (“Londonderry I”) (quotation omitted).  

Pursuant to RSA 193-E:2-a, an adequate education requires instruction in:  

English/language arts and reading; mathematics; science; social studies, 
including civics, government, economics, geography, history, and 
Holocaust and genocide education; arts education, including music and 
visual arts; world languages; health and wellness education . . . ; physical 
education; engineering and technologies including technology applications; 
personal finance literacy, and computer science.   
 

 
1 The Court’s findings and rulings are in narrative form in this Order.  The State’s requests for findings of 
fact and rulings of law are thus granted, denied, or deemed unnecessary, consistent with the following.  
See Geiss v. Bourassa, 140 N.H. 629, 632–33 (1996); Howard v. Howard, 129 N.H. 657, 659 (1987). 



3 
 

See RSA 193-E:2-a, I (cleaned up).  RSA 193-E:2-a, IV(a), explains that the “minimum 

standards for public school approval for the areas identified in paragraph I shall 

constitute the opportunity for the delivery of an adequate education.”   

To fund this opportunity, the legislature enacted RSA 198:40-a, which provides 

for funding via “base adequacy aid” and “differentiated aid.”  RSA 198:40-a, II.  School 

districts receive base adequacy aid for each pupil in the average daily membership in 

residence (“ADMR”).2  Id.  By contrast, school districts only receive differentiated aid for 

each pupil in the ADMR that meets certain statutory criteria.  Id.3  Pursuant to RSA 

198:40-a, III, the “sum total” of base adequacy aid and differentiated aid, if any, “shall be 

the cost of an adequate education.”    

Effective July 1, 2023, the legislature amended RSA 198:40-a to provide for base 

adequacy aid of $4,100 per pupil in the ADMR.  See RSA 198:40-a, II(a) (2023).  Before 

this amendment took effect, the statute set base adequacy aid at $3,561.27 per pupil, 

with that amount adjusted each biennium to reflect changes in the federal Consumer 

Price Index.  See RSA 198:40-a, II(a) (2022).  For the 2022 fiscal year, the adjusted 

base adequacy aid amount awarded under the then-existing version of the statute was 

just under $3,800.  See Joint Ex. 248 (Doc. 83 – Pls.’ 3rd Am. Compl.) ¶ 26.   

Procedural History 

 At issue in this case is the funding amount set forth in RSA 198:40-a, II(a): i.e., 

the amount of base adequacy aid.  See ConVal, 174 N.H. at 159; see also id. at 157 

 
2 Under prior versions of RSA 198:40-a, per pupil calculations considered average daily membership in 
attendance (“ADMA”), not ADMR.  See Doc. 194 (Mar. 20, 2023 Order on Cross-Mots. Summ. J.)  at 2–3. 
 
3 Prior to July 1, 2023, differentiated aid criteria included eligibility for free or reduced-price meals, English 
language learner status, receipt of special education services, and certain below-proficient test scores.  
See Laws 2023, 79:150.  The 2023 amendment eliminated the test score criterion.  See id. 



4 
 

(noting plaintiffs “do not challenge the constitutionality of the definition of an adequate 

education set forth in RSA 193-E:2-a”).  In support of their claim that base adequacy aid 

is constitutionally insufficient, the plaintiffs highlight the costs of: employee salaries and 

benefits; transporting students to and from school; maintaining appropriate and realistic 

teacher-to-student ratios; providing food services; and facilities operation and 

maintenance.  See Doc. 245.  In response, the State questions whether and to what 

extent it must fund these cost-drivers.  See Doc. 242.  The State further questions the 

sufficiency of the plaintiffs’ evidence concerning the relevant costs.  See id. 

 Prior to the April 2023 trial, the parties filed two rounds of cross-motions for 

summary judgment.  Upon review of the first round of motions, the Court concluded that 

the plaintiffs were entitled to partial summary judgment.  See Doc. 51 (June 5, 2019 

Order).  In reaching this conclusion, the Court analyzed certain flaws in a 2008 report 

and accompanying spreadsheet generated by the Joint Legislative Oversight 

Committee on Costing an Adequate Education (the “2008 Report”).  See ConVal, 174 

N.H. at 158, 166; see also Pls.’ Ex. 18 (2008 Report).  Because the base adequacy aid 

figure initially set by the legislature matched the figure set forth in the 2008 Report, the 

Court reasoned that faulty costing determinations and rationale in the 2008 Report 

demonstrated the insufficiency of base adequacy aid.  See Doc. 51.   

On appeal, the Supreme Court concluded that this Court erred in basing its 

summary judgment ruling on the contents of the 2008 Report because that report is not 

incorporated by reference into RSA 198:40-a, II(a).  See ConVal, 174 N.H. at 166.  The 

Supreme Court explained that in order to “address the plaintiffs’ costing argument,” this 

Court would need to determine “what is required to deliver an adequate education as 



5 
 

defined in the statute.”  Id. at 166–67 (remanding case for trial, and noting determination 

of components and costs presents mixed question of law and fact).  Following remand, 

the parties again moved for summary judgment.  Citing the Supreme Court’s 

observation that the reliability of and weight to be afforded certain data were necessarily 

trial determinations, the Court denied those motions.  See Doc. 194 at 10 (citing 

ConVal, 174 N.H. at 167, n.1).   

Nevertheless, the second round of summary judgment motions afforded the 

Court an opportunity to resolve a significant preliminary question: how, if at all, the Court 

should consider differentiated aid in ruling on the plaintiffs’ claims.  See id. at 6.  

Addressing this issue, the State argued that the correct inquiry is whether the total 

amount of funding (base adequacy aid plus differentiated aid) is constitutionally 

sufficient.  See id. at 7.  The Court disagreed, reasoning that “differentiated aid is 

intended to fund extra services for those pupils who meet the statutory criteria,” and the 

State’s approach could improperly divert differentiated aid funds to other purposes.  See 

id. (citing RSA 198:40-a).  The Court recognized, however, that “costs attributable to the 

extra services contemplated by” the differentiated aid scheme “cannot support the 

plaintiffs’ challenge to the amount of base adequacy aid.”  Id.  Accordingly, in analyzing 

the sufficiency of base adequacy aid, the Court clarified that it could not consider “costs 

attributable to additional services provided to students who qualify for differentiated aid.”  

Id.; but see Doc. 232 (Apr. 6, 2023 Order on Mots. In Limine) at 18–19 (acknowledging 

questions regarding degree to which costs can be cleanly divided).  In the Court’s view, 

under the current statutory scheme, a school must be able to provide the opportunity for 

an adequate education if it had no students who qualified for differential aid.  In fact, as 



6 
 

the evidence at trial clearly demonstrates, many schools receive very little differential 

aid.4  Consistent with that clarification, the sole issue before the Court is the 

constitutional sufficiency of base adequacy aid.  See Doc. 194 at 10. 

Standard of Review and Burden of Proof 

 Although the Court has resolved the above-described preliminary question 

concerning the relevance of differentiated aid, there are additional preliminary questions 

the Court must now address.  The first two concern the applicable standard of review 

and burden of proof.  With respect to the standard of review, the State argues that the 

Court must presume RSA 198:40-a, II(a), is constitutional.  See Doc. 242 at 3 (quoting 

ConVal, 174 N.H. at 161, for proposition that Court must not declare statute invalid 

“except on inescapable grounds”).  Relying on such a presumption, the State further 

argues that the plaintiffs must establish “‘a clear and substantial conflict . . . between 

[the statute] and the constitution.’”  Id. (quoting ConVal, 174 N.H. at 161).  The State 

acknowledges, however, that “the right to a State funded constitutionally adequate 

education” is a fundamental right.  See id. at 4 (citing Akins v. Sec’y of State, 154 N.H. 

67, 71 (2006), and Claremont Sch. Dist. v. Governor, 142 N.H. 462, 473 (1997) 

(“Claremont II”)); see also Claremont II, 142 N.H. at 473 (“We hold that in this State a 

constitutionally adequate public education is a fundamental right.”).  Thus, as the State 

recognizes, if the plaintiffs establish such a clear and substantial conflict, then “the 

 
4 Even though the Court granted the plaintiff’s Motion in Limine concerning differential aid, substantial 
evidence about differential aid was admitted at trial.  Many of the plaintiff’s financial spreadsheets 
contained accountings for the amounts of differential aid received.  Thus, the Court allowed cross 
examination on those figures during trial.  The only real impact of the Court’s ruling was that it limited the 
scope of one expert’s testimony concerning the total amount of differential aid provided to the schools.  
However, all the numbers and arguments based on them are before the Court. 



7 
 

burden shifts to the government to justify the law under the strict scrutiny standard.”  

Doc. 242 at 5 (quoting Akins, 154 N.H. at 71).   

The plaintiffs maintain that they have “proved a deprivation of the fundamental 

right to a State-funded adequate education,” thereby shifting the burden to the State to 

justify the amount of base adequacy aid.  See Doc. 245 at 2.  The State disagrees.  See 

Doc. 242 at 23–36.  Indeed, both at summary judgment and at trial, the State took the 

position that the plaintiffs’ evidence is so fundamentally flawed that it cannot satisfy their 

burden.  See id.  Relying on that view, the State’s trial strategy was to criticize or 

otherwise attempt to undermine the plaintiffs’ evidence, rather than presenting 

affirmative evidence defending the sufficiency of base adequacy aid.  The State 

presented no evidence to justify the current base adequacy amount.  As predicted by 

the Court in its prior order on summary judgment, the evidence at trial overwhelmingly 

established that no school could provide the opportunity for an adequate education if it 

had to rely solely on the base adequacy aid from the State. 

For the reasons set forth below, the Court concludes that the plaintiffs have 

made the showing necessary to defeat any applicable presumption of constitutionality, 

thus shifting the burden of proof to the State.  More specifically, the plaintiffs have 

established a clear and substantial conflict between the current amount of base 

adequacy aid funding, and Part II, Article 83 of the State Constitution.  Accordingly, the 

Court will assume for the purposes of this Order that the above-described standard of 

review and burden of proof apply here.  Cf. Canty v. Hopkins, 146 N.H. 151, 156 (2001) 

(declining to reach arguments that would not alter court’s conclusion). 

 



8 
 

Nature of Plaintiffs’ Claim 

 The final preliminary question the Court must address is the appropriate scope of 

the plaintiffs’ claim.  This question arises because, though the plaintiffs have asserted 

both a facial challenge and an as-applied challenge to RSA 198:40-a, II(a), see Joint 

Ex. 248, the State argues that this statute cannot be challenged on an as-applied basis.  

See Doc. 242 at 39–40.  As the State correctly notes, a facial challenge to a statute 

requires a much broader showing than an as-applied challenge.  See id. at 4–5 

(citations omitted).  Indeed, an as-applied challenge “concedes” that the statute at issue 

“may be constitutional in many . . . applications, but contends that it is not constitutional 

under the particular circumstances of the case.”  Working Stiff Partners, LLC v. City of 

Portsmouth, 172 N.H. 611, 622 (2019).  By contrast, a “facial challenge is a head-on 

attack of a legislative judgment, an assertion that the challenged statute violates the 

Constitution in all, or virtually all, of its applications.”  Id.  The State argues that because 

RSA 198:40-a, II(a), establishes a “universal cost” figure, the plaintiffs cannot seek to 

invalidate that figure by establishing a unique entitlement to a greater amount of base 

adequacy aid as compared to other school districts.  See Doc. 242 at 39–40.  The State 

thus maintains that an as-applied challenge to the statute is improper.   

 For the reasons set forth below, the Court concludes that the plaintiffs have 

carried their burden with respect to their facial challenge to RSA 198:40-a, II(a).  The 

Court further concludes that the plaintiffs would not be entitled to any greater relief 

arising out of an as-applied challenge as compared to their facial challenge.  

Accordingly, the Court need not reach the State’s argument concerning the propriety or 

availability of an as-applied challenge in this context.  See Canty, 146 N.H. at 156. 



9 
 

Questions Presented 

 Consistent with the rulings set forth above, and given the nature of the plaintiffs’ 

claim, there are three inquires before the Court: (I) what are the necessary components 

or cost-drivers of a constitutionally adequate education, as defined by the legislature, 

exclusive of additional services provided to students eligible for differentiated aid?; (II) 

what funding is necessary for school districts to provide those components and cost-

drivers?; and (III) how does that amount compare to the funding currently provided via 

base adequacy aid?  As the third inquiry is a matter of simple mathematics, the 

evidence presented at trial largely focused on the first two inquiries. 

Factual Findings 

 During trial, the Court heard testimony from twenty-seven witnesses, most of 

whom work (or worked) for one or more of the plaintiff school districts.  Much of the 

testimony concerned amounts individual school districts actually spend on cost-drivers 

such as employee salaries, benefits, student transportation, and facilities operation and 

maintenance.  In providing testimony on those topics, witnesses relied on personal 

knowledge as well as information contained in various financial reports, including annual 

reports submitted to the Department of Education (the “DOE”) by each school district.  

See, e.g., Pls.’ Ex. 60 (2017-18 annual DOE report (“DOE 25”) for Fall Mountain 

Regional School District).  The data contained in the financial reports was undisputed.  

Each plaintiff submitted five years of accounting data.  There was no dispute at trial 

about how much school districts spent or received.  The central issue for the Court was 

to discern the difference between the “costs” for an adequate education and 

“expenditures” contained in the evidence. 



10 
 

 Throughout trial, the State attempted to undermine this testimony on two key 

fronts.  First, the State emphasized that RSA 193-E:2-a defines a constitutionally-

adequate education as including instruction in specific content areas.  The State further 

emphasized that school districts could organize their financial ledgers in a manner that 

allocates expenses to individual content areas, but school districts generally have not 

done so.  The State emphasized these points in support of its theory that the plaintiffs 

chose to gather the wrong kinds of evidence, and thus could not prove their claim. 

In response to questioning about these points, the plaintiffs’ witnesses testified 

that a content-based allocation of expenses would be impractical and imprecise 

because modern teaching methods incorporate a multi-disciplinary approach.  Notably, 

DOE Commissioner Edelblut endorsed this instruction approach during his testimony, 

agreeing that interconnecting subject matter is a better educational model.5  Because 

individual lessons often incorporate several RSA 193-E:2-a content areas, the plaintiffs’ 

witnesses explained that there is no benefit to attempting to track expenses by content 

area, and any such benefit would be outweighed by the resulting cost.  Some witnesses 

testified that such an endeavor would not be possible, especially in lower grades where 

one teacher teaches multiple subjects and where blended curriculum is the rule and not 

the exception.   

Upon review, the Court concludes that this issue is largely immaterial.  A content-

based accounting system might have proven necessary had the evidence demonstrated 

that school districts devote substantial classroom resources to pursuits outside of the 

 
5 By way of example, a math lesson that incorporates word problems also improves a student’s reading 
comprehension.  Similarly, assignments involving historical literature (such as Thomas Paine’s Common 
Sense) provide instruction in several content areas, including English, social studies, and history.   



11 
 

content areas delineated in RSA 193-E:2-a.  However, the evidence establishes that 

with respect to classroom instruction, school districts devote at most a negligible 

amount of resources to such pursuits.   

The lone possible exception concerns high school elective courses.  See Pls.’ 

Ex. 16 at 24–25 (Ed 306.27(m)) (requiring that high school students earn at least 20 

credits to graduate, including 6 credits in “Open electives”).  While the plaintiffs’ 

witnesses opined that such courses fall within the delineated content areas, reasonable 

minds could disagree with respect to some specific offerings discussed at trial.  Notably, 

however, the plaintiffs do not maintain that base adequacy aid should cover all school 

district expenses.  Indeed, as explained in more detail below, the plaintiffs trial evidence 

took a conservative approach when identifying the costs associated with providing the 

opportunity for a constitutionally adequate education, seeking base adequacy aid 

funding at a level that is approximately half of statewide average expenditures.  Given 

the manner in which the plaintiffs have calculated what they claim to be the requisite 

amount of base adequacy aid, any constitutional inefficiencies resulting from high 

school elective offerings do little to undermine the plaintiffs’ overall position.   

In summary, the Court finds that school districts devote few if any classroom 

instruction costs (i.e., teacher salaries and benefits, instructional materials, etc.) to 

pursuits that fall outside the content areas set forth in RSA 193-E:2-a.  The Court further 

finds that the plaintiffs’ conservative approach to calculating what they claim to be the 

requisite amount of base adequacy aid corrects for any such unrelated costs.  The 

plaintiffs’ evidence of “costs” significantly discounted the actual instructional 

expenditures.  For these reasons, the Court concludes that the State’s arguments 



12 
 

concerning the possibility of implementing a content area-specific accounting system 

are unavailing. 

 The second way in which the State attempted to undermine the plaintiffs’ cost 

evidence was to emphasize that actual costs may not equate to necessary costs, 

because school districts could choose to spend more than the “bare minimum.”  For 

example, a school district could choose to pay higher teacher salaries in an effort to 

attract the most qualified candidates, or maintain lower teacher-to-student ratios in an 

effort to improve the quality of instruction.  In the State’s view, any resulting cost 

increase would be the product of local control, and would accordingly fall outside of the 

State’s constitutional obligations. 

In responding to questioning about this issue, the vast majority of the plaintiffs’ 

witnesses rejected the premise that relevant actual costs are distinguishable from those 

that are constitutionally required.  In particular, the witnesses explained that market 

forces require school districts to offer a certain caliber employment package—including 

salary, benefits, and working conditions—in order to recruit and retain qualified teachers 

and other employees.  As was conclusively proven at the three-week trial:  a school 

needs teachers to teach.  Witnesses further explained that without such offerings, New 

Hampshire school districts would be unable to compete with other employers, including 

school districts in neighboring states.  In addition, several witnesses noted that in some 

cases, actual existing employment packages have proven insufficient to recruit all 

necessary personnel, resulting in numerous vacancies.   

To be sure, the evidence demonstrates that certain individual school districts 

(such as Oyster River) choose to spend more than is strictly necessary to educate their 



13 
 

students.6  Nevertheless, the evidence overwhelmingly establishes that statewide (or 

regional) market forces give rise to a threshold level of employment package that school 

districts must provide in order to recruit and retain personnel.  While school districts do 

not offer perfectly uniform employment packages, the Court finds that the costs 

reflected in the plaintiffs’ aforementioned conservative calculations generally account for 

any minor differences in such offerings.  For these reasons, the Court concludes that 

any discrepancies between the relevant actual costs and those that are constitutionally 

necessary do not meaningfully undermine the plaintiffs’ position.   

 Having addressed the State’s broader arguments concerning the sufficiency of 

the plaintiffs’ evidence, the Court now turns to the specifics of that evidence.  In brief, 

the evidence the plaintiffs offered at trial was intended to establish two points: (1) the 

existing amount of base adequacy aid is constitutionally insufficient; and (2) base 

adequacy aid funding must be increased to no less than $9,900 plus actual 

transportation costs.  See Doc. 245 at 33–34.  The plaintiffs offered three 

methodologies in support of these points.  First, the plaintiffs presented calculations 

completed by Dr. Kimberly Rizzo Saunders, superintendent of schools for the 

Contoocook Valley School District (“ConVal”).  See Pls.’ Ex. 1 (spreadsheet reflecting 

calculations).  Second, the plaintiffs presented a statistical analysis performed by Dr. 

Bruce Baker.  See Pls.’ Ex. 111 (Baker Report).  Lastly, the plaintiffs presented 

evidence concerning the per pupil cost some school districts pay to educate their 

 
6 To be clear, Dr. Morse testified that he is fortunate enough to have voters in his SAU who support 
academics and the many various initiatives that function on the Oyster River School District.  He also 
testified that his teacher salary costs are also attributable to competition in the employment market with 
several communities in Massachusetts – where teachers make considerably more money. 



14 
 

students in other districts.  See Joint Ex. 248 ¶ 112 (“Winchester must pay tuition of 

$14,023 to . . . Keene”).  The Court will address each methodology, in turn. 

I. Calculations Performed by Dr. Rizzo Saunders 

Prior to July 1, 2023, base adequacy aid funding was roughly equivalent to the 

cost figure established in the 2008 Report, adjusted for inflation.  Compare Pls.’ Ex. 2 

(Compl. Ex. A – 2008 Report Spreadsheet) (reflecting base per pupil cost of $3,456) 

with RSA 198:40-a, II(a) (2009) (setting base adequacy aid at $3,450) and RSA 198:40-

a, II(a) (2016) (setting base adequacy aid at $3,561.27, plus adjustments).  To calculate 

what she characterizes as a more realistic base adequacy aid amount, Dr. Rizzo 

Saunders modelled her work after the 2008 Report, see Pls.’ Ex. 2, as well as an 

updated 2018 Report completed by the legislature’s Committee to Study Education 

Funding and the Cost of an Opportunity for an Adequate Education.  See Pls.’ Ex. 19 

(2018 Report) at 17–19 (2018 Updated Spreadsheet and Explanations).7  Dr. Rizzo 

Saunders explained at trial that after significant discussion with peers in the educational 

community and review of data gathered by or submitted to the DOE, she affirmatively 

assessed the validity of each cost figure included in the 2008 and 2018 Report 

spreadsheets.  She then attempted to correct those figures she determined to be the 

least consistent with real world costs.8  In light of the foregoing, although the 2008 and 

2018 Reports were not incorporated into RSA 198:40-a, see ConVal, 174 N.H. at 166, 

both provide important context for Dr. Rizzo Saunders’ work.   

 
7 As the Court ruled at trial, the exhibit was admitted for the limited purpose. 
8 Given Dr. Rizzo Saunders’ credible testimony, to the extent she retained any 2008 or 2018 Report 
figures in her own calculations, the Court finds that she deemed such figures sufficiently realistic as to 
remain part of her conservative cost calculations.   



15 
 

Based on this work, Dr. Rizzo Saunders concluded that base adequacy aid 

should be funded at $9,929 excluding transportation.  See Pls.’ Ex. 4.  The following 

spreadsheet contains the figures used in the 2008 Report and the 2018 Report, as well 

as the adjustments performed by Dr. Rizzo Saunders: 

 

 

REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



16 
 

 



17 
 

Id.; see Pls.’ Exs. 1–3 (individual spreadsheets).9 

A. Per Pupil Teacher Costs 

As set forth below, in analyzing the per pupil cost of teachers, Dr. Rizzo 

Saunders used the total salary figure set forth in the 2018 Report, but adjusted the cost 

of benefits, as well as the teacher-to-student ratios used to derive a per pupil figure: 

 

Pls.’ Ex. 4.  As per pupil teacher costs dramatically impact the necessary funding level, 

the Court will address each component of the relevant calculations, in turn. 

i. Teacher Salary 

In discussing the $38,867 salary figure used in the 2018 Report and in her own 

calculations, Dr. Rizzo Saunders credibly characterized this as a realistic salary level for 

a first-year teacher.  She explained, however, that school districts cannot staff schools 

with only first-year teachers, as such a staffing pattern would be impossible to maintain 

from a market perspective.  Upon inquiry, Dr. Rizzo Saunders testified that statewide, 

the average teacher salary is “about $60,000.”  See Tr. Audio 04/10/2023 9:33:03 – 

 
9 The blended per pupil cost is derived from a simple mathematical formula: because there are 13 school 
years between kindergarten and grade 12, the formula weights the K–2 per pupil cost at 3/13, and the 3–
12 per pupil cost at 10/13.  See Pls.’ Ex. 19 (2018 Report) at 16, n.2 (“‘Blended’ per pupil universal cost is 
a weighted average of the Grades K–2 cost and the Grades 3–12 cost based on 13 grades.”).  The Court 
finds that this is a logical and appropriate way to blend the respective figures. 
 



18 
 

9:33:10.  She explained that she knows this because she reviews statewide data 

concerning teacher salaries at least every few years to assess the strength of the 

employment packages offered in ConVal.  The Court finds that this testimony provides 

ample foundation for her credible claim as to the $60,000 average salary figure.10  As 

explained below, the Court further concludes that in calculating the requisite amount of 

base adequacy aid, it is appropriate to use a teacher salary figure between $38,867 

(approximate first-year salary) and $60,000 (approximate statewide average salary). 

ii. Teacher Benefits 

In her calculations, Dr. Rizzo Saunders used a substantially larger teacher 

benefits figure ($27,418) as compared to the 2018 Report ($12,767).  See Pls.’ Ex. 4.  

She explained at trial that RSA 100-A:16, III, requires school districts to contribute the 

equivalent of 17.80% of teacher salaries to the New Hampshire Retirement System 

(“NHRS”).  See Pls.’ Ex. 5 (detailing benefits calculations).  School districts also pay 

7.65% of a teacher’s salary in federal income taxes (“FICA”).  Id.  Further, school 

districts pay unemployment insurance of at least $147.52 per teacher, per year.  See id.     

 In addition, Dr. Rizzo Saunders explained that school districts generally pay for a 

significant portion of teachers’ health insurance benefit premiums.  As set forth above, 

the Court credits the substantial testimony presented at trial indicating this is a 

significant and essential component of the overall employment package school districts 

must offer to recruit and retain teachers.  In calculating the cost of this benefit, Dr. Rizzo 

Saunders used actual costs and employer contribution levels from ConVal.  She 

 
10 In particular, the Court finds that information school districts report to the DOE is credible.  This data 
informs the level of funding school districts receive from the State, and school districts know that the DOE 
could audit their submissions.  The school districts’ compelling interest in reporting accurate data 
establishes the data’s credibility. 



19 
 

credibly explained that because there are few health insurance providers in New 

Hampshire, the actual costs are quite uniform.  She further explained that she reviewed 

collective bargaining agreements from other school districts to confirm that the 88% 

employer contribution level offered by ConVal is generally consistent with the 

percentage paid by other school districts.  She acknowledged, however, that ConVal will 

be reducing its contribution level to 86% under its next collective bargaining agreement.   

 On cross-examination, the State asked Dr. Rizzo Saunders why her calculations 

used figures for family and two-person benefit plans11 and did not account for single-

person coverage or individuals who forego insurance benefits.  In response, Dr. Rizzo 

Saunders explained that because affordable health insurance has become part of the 

requisite total employment package for teachers, few opt out of coverage.  She 

elaborated that for most married teachers, it would be far more expensive to obtain 

coverage through a spouse’s employer.  Testimony offered by other school district 

employees echoed the notion that although some teachers may pursue a buy-out or 

single-person coverage, the vast majority obtain two-person or family plan coverage. 

 In light of the testimony presented at trial, and subject to the qualifications 

outlined below, the Court finds that the methodology employed by Dr. Rizzo Saunders 

in determining the requisite cost of providing necessary teacher benefits is reasonable 

and sound.  In particular, the Court concludes that in calculating teacher benefits, it is 

reasonable and appropriate to include the cost of health insurance benefits, NHRS 

contributions, FICA payments, and unemployment insurance. 

 
11 Dr. Rizzo Saunders reports that at an employer contribution level of 88 percent, a school district’s 
portion of the annual premium is $19,967.64 for a family plan, and $14,790.84 for a two-person plan.  See 
Pls.’ Ex. 5.  Dr. Rizzo Saunders used an average of these two figures—$17,378.92—in her calculations. 



20 
 

iii. Teacher-to-Student Ratios 

 The next area in which Dr. Rizzo Saunders’ approach substantially deviates from 

the 2008 and 2018 Reports is in calculating per pupil teacher costs.  Because the DOE 

permits maximum class sizes12 of 25 in grades K–2 and 30 in grades 3–12, the 2008 

and 2018 Reports simply divided the total teacher costs by those numbers to derive 

grade range-specific per pupil costs.  See Pls.’ Ex. 4 (reflecting teacher ratios of 1:25 

and 1:30 in 2008 and 2018 Report calculations).  By contrast, Dr. Rizzo Saunders used 

ratios of 1:9.96 for grades K–2 and 1:12.6 for grades 3–12 in her calculations.  See id.  

This issue necessarily has a dramatic impact on per pupil cost figures. 

 In an effort to justify her chosen ratios, Dr. Rizzo Saunders opined that maximum 

classroom size is not and cannot be equivalent to a teacher-to-student ratio.  She 

explained that because public school districts must accept all eligible students, they 

cannot artificially fill every seat in every classroom.  If a school district was somehow 

able to fill every seat, the addition of a single student would require that school district to 

create another class, thus reducing the overall teacher-to-student ratio.  The evidence 

at trial established that this is the rule rather than the exception and that such a scenario 

occurs regularly.  Schools must budget for it accordingly. 

In addition, the Court heard considerable testimony about the need for teacher 

break or preparation periods during the day.  The evidence demonstrates that at most, 

teachers are routinely scheduled to teach 75% of the school day (i.e., six out of eight 

blocks in an eight-block day, or three out of four blocks in a four-block day).  The 

evidence further demonstrates that this is not the product of local control, but rather is 

 
12 As discuss at trial, “class size” is very different from “student to teacher ratio”.  It is very curious that the 

DOE regulations and rules use class size and not student to teach ratio as a metric. 



21 
 

necessary for teachers to perform their work and for school districts to recruit and retain 

teachers.  At least one defense witness (a former teacher himself) agreed with this.  In 

light of the foregoing, although the Court does not adopt Dr. Rizzo Saunders’ ratios, the 

Court generally credits her rationale for reducing the ratios used in the 2008 and 2018 

Reports.   

B. Non-Teacher Employee Costs 

In calculating the costs associated with the following non-teacher employees, Dr. 

Rizzo Saunders maintained the salary figures and student ratios set forth in the 2018 

Report, but adjusted benefit costs in a manner similar to her work with teacher benefits: 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 



22 
 

 
 

 

 
 

See id. (cleaned up).  As with teachers, the Court concludes that the benefit costs Dr. 

Rizzo Saunders used for these non-teacher employees are credible and generally 

conservative.  It may be that Dr. Rizzo Saunders could have been more conservative in 

calculating the employer contribution (and associated cost) for some benefits offered to 

these professionals.13  Nevertheless, given the highly conservative per pupil ratios she 

used for these employees, the Court finds that any potential overstatement of benefit 

costs has a negligible impact (if any) on the resulting per pupil costs.   

Further, testimony provided by numerous witnesses compels the conclusion that 

the services provided by these professionals are essential to the provision of the 

opportunity for a constitutionally adequate education.  Principals are necessary to keep 

a school building running and staffed with qualified teachers.  Administrative assistants 

augment that work, and they also maintain student records and other critical 

information.  Guidance counselors assist students in navigating the day-to-day 

 
13 At trial, the State questioned the necessity of certain benefits offered to principals under Dr. Rizzo 
Saunders’ cost model.  In response, Dr. Rizzo Saunders testified that the overall cost she assigned to the 
total principal employment package (salary and benefits) is a conservative figure demonstrating the 
minimum value school districts must offer to recruit and retain principals.  Given the credible testimony 
offered by Dr. Rizzo Saunders, and the absence of contrary evidence on this point, the Court finds that 
the overall cost Dr. Rizzo Saunders assigned to principals is a credible, conservative figure. 



23 
 

requirements of the school setting, and in selecting the courses necessary to eventually 

fulfill graduation requirements.  Both library/media specialists and technology 

coordinators are required for school districts to purchase and maintain necessary 

instructional materials and technological resources.  Lastly, custodians are necessary in 

order to keep school buildings clean and otherwise appropriately maintained.   

Consistent with the foregoing, the Court concludes that the per pupil costs Dr. 

Rizzo Saunders reports for the above-described cost-drivers are appropriately included 

in calculating the requisite amount of base adequacy aid. 

C. Instructional Materials, Technology, and Professional Development 

To determine the per pupil cost of instructional materials, technology, and 

professional development, Dr. Rizzo Saunders again used the same cost figures as 

those set forth in the 2018 Report: 

 
 

See id.  Drawing on common sense and the testimony presented at trial, the Court 

concludes that these figures are both credible and highly conservative.  See 1 NH Civil 

Jury Instruction 3.2 (2023) (instructing factfinder to “judge the case on the basis of the 

evidence and the inferences [factfinder] can reasonably draw from it,” and explaining 

that “[a] reasonable inference is a deduction which common sense and reason lead 

[factfinder] to draw from the evidence”).  The Court further concludes that these cost-

drivers are essential to the provision of the opportunity for a constitutionally adequate 



24 
 

education.  Instructional materials and technology are obvious necessities.  See RSA 

193-E:2-a, I(a)(11) (requiring instruction in computer science, among other things).  

With respect to professional development, the evidence demonstrates that school 

districts must provide these opportunities to maintain a viable job market to recruit and 

retain teachers and staff.  Absent such a market, the public school system would 

eventually fail because schools need teachers to teach.  The Court thus finds that a 

modest amount of professional development, such as that contemplated in Dr. Rizzo 

Saunders’ model, is essential in this context.  Accordingly, the Court concludes that the 

per pupil costs Dr. Rizzo Saunders reports for these cost-drivers are appropriately 

included in calculating the requisite amount of base adequacy aid. 

D. Facilities 

Facilities operation and maintenance is another cost-driver for which Dr. Rizzo 

Saunders reports a significantly higher per pupil figure ($1,400) than the 2008 ($195) or 

2018 ($250) Reports. 

    2008   2018      Petitioners 

 
 

See Pls.’ Ex. 4.  In justifying her figure, Dr. Rizzo Saunders noted at trial that utility costs 

such as heat and electricity have increased significantly over time.  See Pls.’ Ex. 12 

(reflecting that statewide, per pupil average facilities costs increased by nearly $400 

between 2017–18 and 2021–22 fiscal years).  In addition, she noted that school districts 

must incur snow removal and other winter maintenance costs to keep schools open and 

safe.  She further explained that these necessary costs are not funded by other State 

sources such as building aid.   



25 
 

In calculating the relevant costs, Dr. Rizzo Saunders omitted amounts 

attributable to athletics, which she conceded are not part of the State’s base adequacy 

aid funding obligations.  Nevertheless, on cross-examination, Dr. Rizzo Saunders 

acknowledged that she had not further reduced her figure to account for community use 

of school facilities (such as the use of schools as polling stations, or after-hours scout 

meetings in school cafeterias).  Dr. Rizzo Saunders opined, however, that such uses 

are minimal and have little impact on overall costs.  She further noted that her per pupil 

facilities cost figure of $1,400 is quite close to the $1,375 difference between State 

funding provided to in-person versus online charter schools, suggesting that difference 

is attributable to the need to operate and maintain facilities.  She is right. 

Again drawing on both common sense and the credible testimony offered at trial, 

see 1 NH Civil Jury Instruction 3.2, the Court concludes that the methodology Dr. Rizzo 

Saunders used to calculate facilities costs was generally reasonable and sound.  The 

Court further concludes that facilities costs, including (but not limited to) heat, electricity, 

and winter maintenance, are essential to providing the opportunity for a constitutionally 

adequate education in this state.  Accordingly, this cost-driver is appropriately included 

in calculating the requisite amount of base adequacy aid.     

E. Transportation 

Transportation is another cost-driver about which the plaintiffs presented 

substantial evidence.  Specifically, Dr. Rizzo Saunders and numerous other witnesses 

credibly testified that the $315 per pupil figure used in the 2008 and 2018 Report 

spreadsheets is woefully inadequate.  Indeed, although transportation costs vary 

amongst school districts—with rural school districts tending to incur higher costs—the 



26 
 

evidence demonstrates that many school districts incur per pupil transportation costs of 

over $1,000.  See, e.g., Pls.’ Ex. 29 (ConVal 2021 fiscal year DOE 25) (indicating 

ConVal spent $1,109.12 per elementary school pupil—$772,405.62 (total expenditure) / 

696.41 (average daily membership)—on transportation costs in 2021); Pls.’ Ex. 62 

(Winchester 2021 fiscal year DOE 25) (indicating Winchester spent $1,619.51 per 

elementary school pupil—$595,980.11 / 368—on transportation costs in 2021).  Given 

the range in costs, Dr. Rizzo Saunders recommends funding transportation at actual, 

district-specific levels: 

2008            2018    Petitioners 

 
 

See Pls.’ Ex. 4.   

The Court credits Dr. Rizzo Saunders’ testimony (which was supported by 

testimony from many other witnesses) that transportation is essential to the provision of 

the opportunity for a constitutionally adequate education, is a significant cost-driver, and 

necessarily gives rise to varying cost levels throughout the State. The Court thus 

concludes that it was reasonable for Dr. Rizzo Saunders to characterize these costs as 

a necessary component of base adequacy aid, but to leave these costs out of her 

reported figure, with the recommendation that they be addressed separately.  

F. Cost-Drivers Added by Dr. Rizzo Saunders 

In calculating what she characterizes as the minimum amount of base adequacy 

aid, Dr. Rizzo Saunders included three cost-drivers that were not included in the 2008 

and 2018 Reports: food services, nurse services, and superintendent services: 

     2008     2018        Petitioners 



27 
 

 
 
See Pls.’ Ex. 4.  The Court will address each additional cost-driver, in turn. 

i. Food Services 

Emphasizing that hungry or malnourished students do not learn well, Dr. Rizzo 

Saunders and other witnesses reasonably opined that school districts must offer food 

services in order to provide students with the opportunity for a constitutionally adequate 

education.  The evidence demonstrates, however, that some food service programs are 

able to operate in a self-funding manner.  The evidence further demonstrates that the 

unreduced meal costs charged to paying students and staff is incredibly affordable.  

This suggests prices could be raised by some margin to reduce (if not eliminate) 

program deficits.  The Court heard no evidence indicating such a shift was impossible.  

The Court takes no position as to the ultimate feasibility or prudence of such a step.  On 

the record presented, however, the Court cannot conclude that food services must be 

funded via base adequacy aid.  In other words, although the Court finds that food 

services are essential in this context, the evidence does not demonstrate such services 

are a cost-driver that must be funded via base adequacy aid.  Despite the fact that RSA 

189:11-a mandates all schools to provide food and nutritional programs, the Court 



28 
 

cannot conclude that it was reasonable for Dr. Rizzo Saunders to include food service 

costs in her reported base adequacy aid figure.14 

ii. Nurse Services 

With respect to nurse services, Dr. Rizzo Saunders and numerous other 

witnesses credibly testified to the practical reality that many students require 

medications that must be administered to them throughout the school day.  Witnesses 

also credibly testified about the likelihood that illness or injury would necessitate nurse 

services during the school day, on an unpredictable schedule.  The Court credits this 

testimony.  Indeed, the recent worldwide pandemic demonstrates how quickly disease 

can spread, particularly in a population of young students.  While school staff might be 

capable of administering medications or basic first aid, non-nurse staff cannot exercise 

appropriate medical judgment in determining whether, for example, a stomachache is 

the product of hunger or a contagious virus.  Absent the prompt and accurate exercise 

of such judgment, illness spreads, temporarily depriving affected students of the 

opportunity for a constitutionally adequate education.  For these reasons, the Court 

finds that nurse services are a necessary component of base adequacy aid.  Though 

not germane to the Court’s constitutional analysis, the Court notes that DOE regulations 

(Ed 306:12) require schools to provide nursing services.  Such a nurse is regulated by 

the requirements of RSA 200:29. 

The Court further finds that the $294 per pupil cost Dr. Rizzo Saunders attributes 

to these services is a reasonable, conservative figure.  In calculating this figure, Dr. 

 
14 The Court notes that food services is also the largest cost per pupil of the differential aid categories. By 
finding that this should not be included as a cost driver, the State’s argument concerning differential aid is 
deflated. 



29 
 

Rizzo Saunders relied on a 2014 survey of school nurses performed by the New 

Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services.  See Pls.’ Ex. 14.  Among other 

things, this report indicates that nurse service needs vary throughout the state: a 

sentiment confirmed by the testimony presented at trial.  See id.  Of those schools that 

employ a full-time nurse, reported nurse-to-student ratios varied from 1:257 in the North 

Country to 1:528 in South Central New Hampshire.  Id. at 13.  The statewide average 

nurse-to-student ratio for all schools, including those employing part-time nurses, was 

reported to be 1:223.  See id. at 3.   

Multiplying Dr. Rizzo Saunders’ per pupil cost of $294 by the statewide average 

number of students for whom a single nurse is responsible (223) leads to a product of 

$65,562.  Thus, under average conditions, a school nurse’s total employment package 

would need to cost school districts no more than $65,562.  This demonstrates the 

conservative nature of Dr. Rizzo Saunders’ per pupil figure.  Indeed, like fuel costs, 

healthcare costs (and salaries) have risen dramatically since 2014.  As a result, a total 

nurse cost figure of $65,562 is likely far too low.   

Moreover, the Court heard considerable testimony at trial regarding the difficulty 

of sharing a nurse amongst schools, and the benefits of having a full-time on-site nurse 

at each school location.  In light of that credible testimony, the Court cannot conclude 

that a funding model requiring schools to routinely share nurses would be 

constitutionally sufficient.  As a result, to the extent more rural schools have lower 

nurse-to-student ratios, the Court is persuaded that such ratios are largely 

unavoidable.15  On the other end of the spectrum, the fact that some schools have 

 
15 The Court is not prepared to say that the State must provide funding for a nurse in every school, 
regardless of size, as this issue implicates some amount of local decision making.  Yet, there are some 



30 
 

historically maintained higher nurse-to-student ratios does not prove those ratios are 

constitutionally sufficient.  As explained above, the realistic concern that emergency 

nurse services become necessary on an unpredictable basis renders a shared nurse 

model inadequate.   

In addition, the Court concludes that although school nurses may provide 

services to students who qualify for differentiated aid, the entire $294 per pupil cost 

included in Dr. Rizzo Saunders’ calculations is properly characterized as a necessary 

component of base adequacy aid.  In reaching this conclusion, the Court relies on the 

fact that a hypothetical school with no differentiated aid-eligible students would still 

require nurse services to address illnesses, injuries, or medication issues throughout 

the school day.  Such a school could include students who do not qualify for 

differentiated aid, but require daily medical assistance (such as blood sugar monitoring).  

Given the conservative nature of the $294 per pupil figure, and the need for nurse 

services in all schools, the Court concludes that it is appropriate to include all of this 

cost in base adequacy aid calculations. 

iii. Superintendent Services 

 The Court takes a different view regarding superintendent services, the last cost-

driver added by Dr. Rizzo Saunders.  See Pls.’ Ex. 4.  Like nurse services, the evidence 

demonstrates that superintendents often perform services that are important to 

successful school operations.  Though required by Ed. 302.01, the Court is not 

convinced these services fall entirely within the definition set forth in RSA 193-E:2-a.  In 

particular, the evidence did not clearly define the degree to which work customarily 

 
schools where a lower nurse-to-student ratio is a product of geography and population size, and could not 
be corrected without incurring substantial transportation costs.   



31 
 

performed by a superintendent could instead be performed by a school principal or 

other staff member.  As a result, on the record presented, the Court has lingering 

doubts as to whether most school districts must employ a full-time superintendent, or 

whether they simply choose this approach.  Accordingly, although Dr. Rizzo Saunders 

attributes a conservative per pupil cost to these services ($158), the Court cannot 

conclude that it was reasonable to include that cost in base adequacy aid calculations.  

In other words, the Court finds that some amount of superintendent services is 

necessary in this context, but the Court cannot ascertain the degree to which base 

adequacy aid must fund these services. 

 In so ruling, the Court is in no way finding that superintendent services are not 

essential to the functioning of a school district.  To the contrary, they clearly are 

essential.  The Court is simply making an assessment of the evidence before it. 

G. Impact of Criticisms Offered by Dr. Greene 

In an effort to undermine the credibility of Dr. Rizzo Saunders’ work, the State 

presented expert testimony from Dr. Jay Greene.  In brief, Dr. Greene juxtaposed Dr. 

Rizzo Saunders’ process with that underlying the 2008 Report.  See Doc. 242 at 26.  He 

opined that the latter approach, which involved consideration of substantial data from 

diverse sources and viewpoints, was a reliable method for determining base adequacy 

aid.16  He further opined that the release of the 2008 Report permitted others to analyze 

the underlying methodology.  Because Dr. Rizzo Saunders relied on more limited data 

 
16 As the Court noted in ruling on the parties’ motions in limine, see Doc. 232, the process underlying the 
2008 Report—a process Dr. Greene endorses—is strikingly similar to the Court’s experience in presiding 
over the trial in this matter: i.e., considering substantial data from diverse sources and viewpoints in order 
to determine an appropriate amount of base adequacy aid. 



32 
 

sources and did not draft a written report, Dr. Greene contends that her work is 

unreliable, incapable of sufficient review, and otherwise undeserving of weight.   

Upon review, Dr. Greene’s criticisms do not demonstrate that the work performed 

by Dr. Rizzo Saunders cannot, in conjunction with other evidence, carry the plaintiffs’ 

burden of proof.  The evidence presented at trial empowers the Court to effectively 

gauge the reasonableness of the input figures used by Dr. Rizzo Saunders.  Thus, the 

absence of a written report explaining the genesis of those figures is not as problematic 

as Dr. Greene suggests.  Moreover, although the Court does not adopt every figure Dr. 

Rizzo Saunders input into her methodology, any defects concerning those numbers are 

readily identifiable, and can either be excised or corrected based on other evidence.  

See Shaw’s Supermarkets, Inc. v. Town of Windham, 174 N.H. 569, 573 (2021) (“As the 

trier of fact, the trial court may accept or reject any portion of the evidence as it finds 

proper, including that of expert witnesses.”); see also 1 NH Civil Jury Instruction 3.2.  

For these reasons, any limitations of Dr. Rizzo Saunders’ data sources or other aspects 

of her process criticized by Dr. Greene do not undermine the conclusions the Court 

reaches in partial reliance on Dr. Rizzo Saunders’ work. 

 Consistent with the foregoing, the Court concludes that in calculating the 

minimum necessary level of base adequacy aid, Dr. Rizzo Saunders used a reliable and 

otherwise appropriate methodology: analyzing discrete cost-drivers and calculating 

relevant per pupil costs.  The Court further finds that her input figures are generally 

credible and conservative.  Although the Court does not conclude that all such costs 

should be included in base adequacy aid, any necessary adjustments are readily 

identifiable and supported by other evidence.  Accordingly, the opinions offered by Dr. 



33 
 

Rizzo Saunders, viewed in conjunction with the other evidence presented at trial, are 

capable of carrying the plaintiffs’ burden of proof in this action. 

II. Statistical Analysis Performed by Dr. Baker 

In further support of their claim, the plaintiffs presented testimony from Dr. Bruce 

Baker.  See Pls.’ Ex. 111 (Baker Report).  Dr. Baker described the process he used and 

conclusions he reached in connection with an outputs-based analysis he performed in 

2020 at the request of the legislature’s Commission to Study School Funding.  See id.  

Based on this work, Dr. Baker concluded that the cost of an adequate education in a 

district of average size and grade-level distribution (without adjustments for students 

who qualify for differentiated aid) is $9,964 excluding transportation.  See id.  Dr. Baker 

explained that to arrive at this figure, he analyzed current spending and various risk 

factors or needs to determine the spending necessary to achieve certain outcome 

goals.  He further explained that most of the data he used came from the DOE. 

Dr. Robert Costrell, another expert witness retained by the State, testified to 

numerous criticisms of Dr. Baker’s work.  The evidence demonstrates that this is not the 

first time Dr. Baker and Dr. Costrell have testified as to their conflicting views on school 

funding.  In this case, Dr. Costrell criticized various aspects of Dr. Baker’s methodology, 

including choices he made in creating and applying his statistical models.  Emphasizing 

that New Hampshire public school students achieve outcomes which exceed 

constitutional adequacy, Dr. Costrell opined that Dr. Baker’s outcome-based analysis 

does not establish the costs necessary to achieve base adequacy, but rather something 

more.  Dr. Costrell further noted that in 2019, New Hampshire had the eighth highest 

level of per pupil education expenditures in the nation, suggesting Dr. Baker’s reliance 



34 
 

on actual spending gave rise to inflated cost figures.  See Joint Ex. 235.  Dr. Costrell 

acknowledged, however, that as of the 2018–19 school year, New Hampshire was on 

the lower end of the nationwide spectrum vis-à-vis state funding for public schools: 

 

See Joint Ex. 237 (indicating New Hampshire had fourteenth lowest level of state 

funding for public education in 2018–19 school year). 

To summarize, Dr. Baker and Dr. Costrell emphatically defended their respective 

positions as to whether, and if so how, certain aspects of Dr. Baker’s methodology could 

undermine the reliability thereof.  Ultimately, the Court need not resolve these 

differences of opinion at this time.  Rather, upon reflection, the Court is persuaded that 

Dr. Baker’s work was designed to answer a different question than that presented here: 

this case concerns the State’s obligation to fund the opportunity for a constitutionally 

adequate education, whereas Dr. Baker analyzed the spending necessary to achieve a 

particular result.  While the quality of instruction may be a significant factor impacting 



35 
 

actual student performance, it is not the only such factor.  For this reason, the Court 

cannot conclude that Dr. Baker’s work is directly applicable to the inquiry before the 

Court.  Nevertheless, as explained below, it provides a helpful benchmark in measuring 

the plaintiffs’ claim concerning the requisite level of base adequacy aid funding. 

III. Tuition Agreements 

The final method by which the plaintiffs attempted to prove their claim was to 

present evidence concerning the per pupil cost some school districts pay to educate 

their students in other districts.  See Joint Ex. 248 ¶ 112 (“Winchester must pay tuition 

of $14,023 to have . . . students attend Keene High School.”).  Several witnesses 

credibly testified that school districts enter tuition agreements based on the conclusion 

that it would cost more to educate those students within the tuitioning (sending) school 

district.  As a result, these witnesses opined that tuition figures constitute the lowest per 

pupil cost at which the school districts can educate those students.  Via cross-

examination, however, the State established that tuition figures generally include costs 

associated with athletics and other pursuits that fall outside of the State’s base 

adequacy aid funding obligations.  In addition, the plaintiffs’ witnesses were unable to 

meaningfully refute the State’s suggestion that some school districts choose to tuition 

students to academically strong districts when consolidating with other smaller districts 

might lower per pupil costs.  On the record presented, the Court cannot conclude that 

tuition costs are necessarily the lowest achievable cost of delivering the opportunity for 

a constitutionally adequate education to the relevant students.   

 

 



36 
 

Analysis 

I. Sufficiency of Plaintiffs’ Evidence 

 Given the above-described standard of review and burden of proof, see Doc. 242 

at 3 (quoting ConVal, 174 N.H. at 161, for proposition that Court must presume statute 

is constitutional and “‘not declare it invalid except on inescapable grounds’”), and in light 

of the State’s pending motion for a directed verdict, see Doc. 235, the Court’s first task 

is to analyze whether the plaintiffs put forth sufficient evidence to demonstrate that the 

existing level of base adequacy aid is constitutionally insufficient “in all, or virtually all,” 

of New Hampshire’s school districts.  See Working Stiff Partners, 172 N.H. at 622.  

Based on the evidence the plaintiffs presented at trial, the Court is persuaded that the 

costing methodology employed by Dr. Rizzo Saunders is a reliable way to determine the 

requisite level of base adequacy aid funding.  Thus, as a preliminary step, the Court 

applies that methodology to those cost-drivers that are essential to educating students 

in the content areas set forth in 193-E:2-a.17  In completing this task, the Court employs 

conservative figures that likely undervalue the requisite level of funding.  In the Court’s 

view, such a conservative approach best reflects the standard of review and burden of 

proof, particularly in the context of the plaintiffs’ facial challenge.  In addition, as 

discussed below, this approach affords appropriate deference to the legislature. 

 

 

 
17 As explained above, those cost-drivers include: teachers, principals, administrative assistants, 
guidance counselors, library/media specialists, technology coordinators, custodians, nurses, instructional 
materials, technology, professional development, transportation, and facilities operation and 
maintenance.  Although some amount of superintendent services is also necessary, the Court cannot 
reliably quantify the corresponding level of necessary funding.   



37 
 

A. Per Pupil Teacher Costs 

The first necessary cost-driver is teachers.  To calculate an appropriate per pupil 

amount for this cost-driver, the Court must determine what salary figure and benefit 

costs should be input into Dr. Rizzo Saunders’ model.  The Court must then determine 

an appropriate teacher-to-student ratio.    

i. Teacher Salary 

As previously noted, in calculating a highly conservative per pupil teacher cost, 

Dr. Rizzo Saunders utilized a total salary figure of $38,867.  See Pls.’ Ex. 4.  She 

credibly testified that this figure represents a realistic statewide average for a first-year 

teacher salary, see Joint Ex. 481 (chart depicting minimum starting teacher salaries for 

2021–22 school year, and reflecting average starting salary of $40,478.90), whereas the 

statewide average teacher salary is approximately $60,000.  As set forth above, the 

Court credits Dr. Rizzo Saunders’ explanation as to why school districts cannot hire only 

first-year teachers.  Thus, in calculating the requisite level of base adequacy aid, it is 

appropriate to use a figure higher than $38,867 as the teacher salary cost. 

Nevertheless, the Court cannot conclude that it would be appropriate to use the 

statewide average teacher salary figure of $60,000.  The Court credits evidence 

presented at trial indicating that at least one school district—Oyster River—chooses to 

pay teachers more than the bare minimum, a choice that necessarily raises the state 

average.  See id. (reflecting first-year teacher salary in Oyster River of $43,864.00 for 

2021–22 school year).  On the other hand, the Court also credits testimony offered by 

numerous witnesses indicating that the vast majority of New Hampshire school districts 

keep costs as low as possible to minimize local property tax rates.  Having weighed the 



38 
 

evidence, and drawing on the Court’s common sense, see 1 NH Civil Jury Instruction 

3.2, the Court concludes that an average teacher salary figure of $57,000—five percent 

less than the average figure reported by Dr. Rizzo Saunders—is a conservative 

estimate of the average statewide teacher salary level necessary to maintain an 

education market in New Hampshire, and to recruit and retain qualified teachers.18  The 

evidence at trial clearly established that the school districts with low teacher salaries 

cannot retain teachers or recruit new ones to replace the ones that leave.  Some of the 

plaintiff districts have had vacancies that have gone unfilled for years because they 

cannot compete with the salaries (or employment packages) of other districts.  While 

the five percent reduction (from an already conservatively low number) is almost 

certainly an overcorrection in the State’s favor, this is the most reasonable approach 

under the circumstances. 

ii. Teacher Benefits 

 The Court’s conclusion regarding teacher salary impacts the relevant benefit 

costs.  As set forth above, the Court finds that in calculating teacher benefits, it is 

reasonable and appropriate to include the cost of health insurance benefits, NHRS 

contributions, FICA payments, and unemployment insurance.  Using the above-

described conservative average salary figure of $57,000 and given the contribution level 

of 17.80% of teacher salaries, see Pls.’ Ex. 5, the average cost associated with NHRS 

benefits is $10,146.  Applying that same approach to FICA payments, which total 7.65% 

of teacher salaries, see id., the average cost associated with FICA payments is $4,361.  

 
18 The 2008 Report, the 2018 Report, and Dr. Rizzo Saunders’ calculations all included a 20% increase 
for “specialty teachers.”  See Pls.’ Ex. 4.  The Court has no basis to conclude such an adjustment is 
necessary when using a salary figure close to the statewide average.  Accordingly, the Court will not 
make a similar adjustment in its own cost calculations. 



39 
 

Because the Court cannot discern whether an increased salary figure leads to a higher 

cost of unemployment insurance, the Court will maintain the $147.52 yearly figure used 

in Dr. Rizzo Saunders’ calculations.  Accordingly, the evidence demonstrates that 

$14,654.52 is a conservative average cost of teacher benefits excluding health 

insurance.   

 In calculating the cost of health insurance benefits, Dr. Rizzo Saunders used an 

average of the costs associated with a two-person plan and a family plan, funded at an 

employer contribution level of 88%.  See Pls.’ Ex. 5 (indicating school district portion of 

two-person plan is $14,790.84, and school district portion of family plan is $19,967.64, 

when funded at 88% level).  As set forth above, however, there was evidence presented 

at trial indicating that some teachers opt for a single person plan, a buyout, or no health 

insurance coverage at all.  Unlike teacher salary information, the record does not 

contain concrete information concerning the number of teachers pursuing each type of 

coverage.  While the Court credits testimony reflecting that the vast majority of teachers 

avail themselves of two-person or family plans, the Court concludes that some 

adjustment to Dr. Rizzo Saunders’ input figure is necessary. 

Once again taking an overly conservative view of the evidence, the Court 

concludes that in gauging the sufficiency of base adequacy aid, it is appropriate to 

consider the cost associated with a two-person health insurance plan.  Again drawing 

on common sense and the evidence presented at trial, see 1 NH Civil Jury Instruction 

3.2, the Court concludes that this approach will overcorrect for Dr. Rizzo Saunders’ 

failure to account for the minority of teachers who obtain single-person or no health 

insurance coverage.  In light of the Court’s overarching conservative approach, the 



40 
 

Court also concludes that it is appropriate to calculate health insurance costs using the 

86% funding level included in ConVal’s forthcoming collective bargaining agreement, 

rather than the present 88% funding level used by Dr. Rizzo Saunders.  As a result, the 

evidence demonstrates that $14,454.6819 is a conservative average cost of teacher 

health insurance benefits.  Adding this figure to the aforementioned $14,654.52 cost of 

other benefits and the $57,000 salary figure leads to a conservative per teacher cost of 

$86,109.20. 

iii. Teacher-to-Student Ratios 

 The Court must next convert this figure into a per pupil cost.  As previously 

explained, the 2008 and 2018 Reports used maximum class sizes of 25 (for grades K–

2) and 30 (for grades 3–8) to derive per pupil costs, whereas Dr. Rizzo Saunders used 

much lower teacher-to-student ratios.  At this stage of the analysis—i.e., determining 

whether the plaintiffs have met their initial burden of proof—the Court need not 

determine precisely what ratio is appropriate.  It is sufficient to state that using a ratio of 

1:25 leads to a per pupil teacher cost of $3,444.37, whereas a ratio of 1:30 leads to a 

per pupil cost of $2,870.30.  Blending these numbers in the manner described above 

(i.e., a weighted average) results in a per pupil teacher cost of $3,157.34. 

B. Other Necessary Costs 

As set forth above, the Court credits Dr. Rizzo Saunders’ per pupil cost figures 

for principals ($262), administrative assistants ($115), guidance counselors ($182), 

library/media specialists ($123), technology coordinators ($121), custodians ($98), and 

nurse services ($294), totaling $1,195.  See Pls.’ Ex. 4.  In addition, the evidence 

 
19 Since $14,790.84 constitutes 88% of the two-person premium cost, the total cost must be $16,807.77 
($14,790.84 divided by 0.88).  86% of the total figure is thus $14,454.68. 



41 
 

demonstrates that like teachers, these employees are essential to the delivery of the 

opportunity for a constitutionally adequate education.  Adding these $1,195 in costs to 

the aforementioned blended per pupil cost of $3,157.34 leads to a running total of 

$4,352.34: $252.34 more than the 2023 level of base adequacy aid funding.  See Laws 

2023, 79:150 (setting amount at $4,100).  Adding the per pupil costs of instructional 

materials ($300) and technology ($100) leads to a running total of $4,752.34—thus 

demonstrating the insufficiency of the $4,100 base adequacy aid figure set in 2023.  

See id.; Pls.’ Ex. 4.20   

 Notably, the foregoing calculations do not include costs attributable to 

professional development, facilities operation and maintenance, or transportation.  

These cost-drivers were included in the 2008 and 2018 Reports, and the evidence 

demonstrates that they are essential to the provision of the opportunity for a 

constitutionally adequate education.  While the evidence reflects a minimum per pupil 

professional development cost of only $30, per pupil facilities and transportation costs 

often must exceed $1,000 each.  These realities further demonstrate the insufficiency of 

the $4,100 base adequacy aid figure set in 2023.   

 Consistent with the foregoing, the Court concludes that the plaintiffs have 

defeated any applicable presumption that the current level of base adequacy aid 

funding is constitutionally sufficient.  See Doc. 242 at 3 (quoting ConVal, 174 N.H. at 

161).  Indeed, the plaintiffs have proven a “clear and substantial conflict” between the 

current level of base adequacy aid funding and the amount necessary to fulfill the 

 
20 It bears repeating that because the per pupil costs attributed to these cost-drivers were derived using 
highly conservative ratios, the Court is confident that the reported costs are not inflated by the heightened 
needs of students who qualify for differentiated aid.  Rather, these cost figures reflect the minimum costs 
that would be incurred by a hypothetical school district in which no students qualify for differentiated aid. 



42 
 

State’s constitutional obligations “in all, or virtually all,” of New Hampshire’s school 

districts.  See id. (quoting ConVal, 174 N.H. at 161); see also Working Stiff Partners, 

172 N.H. at 622.  Accordingly, the burden shifts to the State to justify the law under the 

strict scrutiny standard.  See Akins, 154 N.H. at 71.  As explained above, the State did 

not offer affirmative evidence justifying the sufficiency of the current funding level, 

instead seeking to undermine the sufficiency of the plaintiffs’ evidence.  Because the 

Court concludes that the plaintiffs offered sufficient evidence to carry their burden, the 

State’s mid-trial motion for a directed verdict is DENIED.  See Doc. 235.  Further, in light 

of the explanations and analysis set forth above, the plaintiffs’ request for a declaratory 

judgment declaring RSA 198:40-a, II(a), unconstitutional on its face is GRANTED.  See 

Doc. 83 at 26.   

II. Separation of Powers Considerations 

Prior to trial, the Court repeatedly resisted the plaintiffs’ requests for an 

affirmative determination as to the necessary level of base adequacy aid funding.  See, 

e.g., Doc. 51 at 92–94 (denying request for injunctive relief requiring particular level of 

funding).  This resistance stemmed from the Court’s appreciation of the great burden 

school funding imposes on the legislature, as well as the legislature’s role in defining an 

adequate education.  See id. at 92–96.  In reflecting on the evidence presented at trial, 

however, the Court’s position on this issue has shifted.   

To be sure, the Court remains concerned about respecting the legislature’s role 

in this process.  Indeed, as the State correctly points out, the Claremont I court 

expressly declined to “define the parameters of the education mandated by the 

constitution as that task is, in the first instance, for the legislature and the Governor.”  



43 
 

138 N.H. at 192.  Since then, the Supreme Court has repeatedly emphasized the 

significance of the legislature’s role in this context.  See Claremont II, 142 N.H. at 476–

77 (permitting existing funding mechanism to remain in effect for set period so 

legislature had “reasonable time to effect . . . a new system”); Londonderry I, 154 N.H. 

at 163 (indicating Supreme Court’s respect of legislature’s role has led it to “demure[]” 

each time it “has been requested to define the substantive content of a constitutionally 

adequate public education”).  As set forth above, the parties’ trial presentations leave 

the Court with lingering doubts as to whether the legislature intended for base adequacy 

aid to fund all of the costs included in Dr. Rizzo Saunders’ analysis.  For this reason, the 

Court agrees with the State that “a judicial determination of the exact per-pupil amount 

of funding necessary to provide for base adequacy would infringe the constitutionally 

committed responsibilities of the political branches and embroil the courts in weighty 

policy decisions . . . .”  Doc. 244 at 1 (emphasis added). 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Court is mindful that “the judiciary has a 

responsibility to ensure that constitutional rights not be hollowed out and, in the absence 

of action by other branches, a judicial remedy is not only appropriate but essential.”  

Londonderry I, 154 N.H. at 163 (citing Petition of Below, 151 N.H. 135 (2004)); cf. 

Norelli v. Sec’y of State, 175 N.H. 186, 200 (2022) (rejecting State’s position that 

despite unconstitutionality of existing congressional districting statute, judicial non-

intervention was “more important than protecting the voters’ fundamental rights”).  The 

Court is likewise cognizant that school funding is a complicated and politically-charged 

issue, with a history that suggests some level of judicial intervention is now necessary.  

Among other things, though the legislature hired Dr. Baker to analyze school funding 



44 
 

issues and provide an informed recommendation, base adequacy aid is currently 

funded at less than half of his recommended level.  This is just one example that calls 

into question whether the politics of this issue are impeding the State’s constitutional 

obligation to fully find the opportunity for children in this state to receive and adequate 

education.  That ends today.   

Given the history and significance of this issue, see Claremont II, 142 N.H. at 473 

(holding constitutionally adequate public education is a fundamental right), the Court 

concludes that it is both necessary and appropriate to grant the plaintiffs a measure of 

additional relief at this juncture.  Specifically, although the Court declines to set a 

definitive level of base adequacy aid funding, it is now appropriate to establish a 

conservative minimum threshold such funding must exceed.  In the Court’s view, this 

approach strikes the appropriate balance between the competing interests involved. 

III. Conservative Threshold for Base Adequacy Aid Funding 

Drawing on the credible evidence presented at trial, the Court’s next task is to 

determine a minimum funding level for those cost-drivers that are indisputably part of 

the State’s base adequacy aid funding obligations.  Cf. O’Malley v. Little, 170 N.H. 272, 

275 (2017) (citing Jesurum v. WBTSCC Ltd. P’ship, 169 N.H. 469, 476 (2016) for 

proposition that following a trial on the merits, trial court’s “judgment on such issues as 

resolving conflicts in the testimony, measuring the credibility of witnesses, and 

determining the weight to be given evidence” are entitled to deference).  In reaching 

such a determination, the Court again employs conservative figures that likely 

undervalue the requisite costs.  Such a conservative approach best aligns with the 

plaintiffs’ facial challenge, and affords appropriate deference to the legislature.  It also 



45 
 

takes in to account the gravamen of the State’s theory of defense: that actual 

expenditures are not the same as “costs” in this context.  However, costs are a 

recursive set within expenditures. 

A. Per Pupil Teacher Costs 

Once again, the Court begins the analysis with teachers.  As explained above, 

the Court finds that this cost-driver must be funded at a per teacher level of at least 

$86,109.20.  To reiterate, this figure is derived from a statewide average teacher salary 

of $60,000, discounted by 5% to correct for those rare school districts that opt to pay 

more than the market strictly demands.  At trial, the Court heard evidence of only a 

single school district falling into this category.  Thus, the Court is confident that a 5% 

reduction more than corrects for this issue.   

Teacher benefits, including NHRS contributions, FICA payments, unemployment 

insurance, and health insurance, make up the remainder of the $86,109.20 figure.  As 

explained above, the Court has calculated the cost of health insurance benefits using 

the price of a two-person plan, funded at an 86% employer contribution level.  Given the 

evidence presented at trial, the Court is confident that excluding the cost of family plans 

more than corrects for those few teachers who opt for single person or no coverage, 

particularly given testimony indicating many “no coverage” teachers receive a buyout. 

As above, the Court must next convert the $86,109.20 teacher cost into a per 

pupil amount.  The evidence demonstrates that it is inappropriate to use maximum class 

sizes in this conversion, as school districts cannot fill every classroom to maximum 

capacity.  In addition, in light of market demands and the requirements of a teaching 

position, teachers must be afforded preparation and break periods.  The evidence 



46 
 

demonstrates that although some teachers provide classroom instruction for only 62.5% 

of the school day (five out of eight blocks), others provide instruction for 75% of the 

school day (six out of eight or three out of four blocks).  Given the conservative inquiry 

at issue, the Court uses the 75% model to calculate per pupil costs. 

Based on a 75% model, each teacher can provide three blocks of instruction in a 

four-block day.  Filling the remaining 25% would use up one third of a second teacher’s 

teaching capacity (i.e., one of the second teacher’s three daily teaching blocks).  Thus, 

even if a school district could fill every seat in every classroom, one and one-third 

teachers would be needed to provide instruction in each classroom for an entire school 

day.  For this reason, in calculating per pupil teacher costs, maximum class sizes must 

be reduced to account for this reality.  This results in teacher-to-student ratios of 1:18.75 

for grades K–2 (25 divided by 1 1/3), and 1:22.50 for grades 3–8 (30 divided by 1 1/3), 

for a blended ratio of 1:21.63.21  

Although this ratio does not account for the reality that school districts cannot fill 

every seat in every classroom, the evidence presented at trial does not provide the 

Court with a reliable way to correct for this.  In the Court’s view, actual teacher-to-

student ratios do not provide meaningful guidance because they are impacted by 

factors such as the heightened needs of students who qualify for differentiated aid: an 

issue which, as explained above, the Court has excluded from this inquiry.  Moreover, 

although the DOE encourages school districts to keep certain class sizes below the 

maximum, the Court concludes that the legislature should determine how, if it all, 

funding should account for that guidance.  For these reasons, in setting a threshold for 

 
21 The following calculation determines the blended ratio: ((3 x 18.75) + (10 x 22.50)) / 13. 



47 
 

base adequacy aid, the Court employs a highly conservative per pupil teacher cost of 

$3,981.01 ($86,109.20 divided by 21.63).   

B. Non-Teacher Employee Costs  

In addition to teachers, the Court finds that the services provided by principals, 

administrative assistants, guidance counselors, library/media specialists, technology 

coordinators, and custodians are all essential to the provision of the opportunity for a 

constitutionally adequate education.  For the reasons articulated above, the Court 

credits the conservative per pupil cost figures adopted by Dr. Rizzo Saunders with 

respect to these cost-drivers.  These per pupil costs total $901.22 

C. Instructional Materials, Technology, and Professional Development 

The evidence further demonstrates that instructional materials, technology, and 

professional development costs are inherent in and essential to the provision of the 

opportunity for a constitutionally adequate education.  For the reasons articulated 

above, the Court credits the conservative per pupil cost figures adopted by Dr. Rizzo 

Saunders with respect to these cost-drivers.  These per pupil costs total $430.23   

D. Facilities  

 The Court further finds that facilities operation and maintenance is also essential 

in this context.  The 2008 Report funded this cost-driver at $195 per pupil, the 2018 

Report funded it at $250 per pupil, and Dr. Rizzo Saunders argues it should be funded 

at $1,400 per pupil.  See Pls.’ Ex. 4.  Upon review, the Court concludes that none of 

 
22 Component costs include $262 for principals, $115 for administrative assistants, $182 for guidance 
counselors, $123 for library / media specialists, $121 for technology coordinators, and $98 for custodians. 
 
23 Component costs include $300 for instructional materials, $100 for technology, and $30 for professional 
development.  See Pls.’ Ex. 4.  The Court speculates that a per pupil technology cost of $100 is likely low, 
but the evidence in the record does not empower the Court to set a higher, more realistic number. 



48 
 

these funding levels are fully supported.  Because facilities operation and maintenance 

includes things like heat, electricity, and winter maintenance, the Court is convinced that 

the funding levels set forth in the 2008 and 2018 Reports are far too low.  This is 

established by, among other things, the fact that utility and fuel costs (as recorded in the 

financial reports) have risen sharply in recent years.  On the other hand, the State 

persuasively argued at trial that not all costs included in Dr. Rizzo Saunders’ 

calculations fall within the State’s base adequacy aid obligations.  The plaintiffs’ 

evidence did not fully refute that argument.   

Although the plaintiffs’ witnesses opined that community use of school facilities 

has a negligible impact on costs, the Court has no reliable way to precisely adjust for 

that reality.  Accordingly, the evidence presented at trial does not empower the Court to 

set a definitive cost figure that excludes unnecessary components, but includes all 

necessary ones.  In addition, the Court perceives that funding this cost-driver involves 

locally controlled policy determinations: for example, whether to fund air conditioning to 

prevent school closings on unusually warm days; or whether the local town will cover 

the costs of snow removal.   

Drawing on the evidence presented at trial and the Court’s common sense, 

however, see 1 NH Civil Jury Instruction 3.2, the Court concludes that facilities 

operation and maintenance must be funded at an amount over $1,000 per pupil: $400 

less than the $1,400 figure used in Dr. Rizzo Saunders’ calculations.24  The evidence 

demonstrates that although some portion of Dr. Rizzo Saunders’ $1,400 figure may be 

attributable to athletics, community use, or other uses which implicate questions of 

 
24 As noted above, $1,000 is less than the $1,375 difference in funding the State provides to in-person 
charter schools as compared to virtual charter schools. 



49 
 

policy, the associated costs account for less than 25% of her figure.  Accordingly, 

reducing that figure by $400—28.57%—overcorrects for any such issues.  However, 

based on the limitations of the evidence presented at trial, the policy determinations 

involved, and the conservative nature of the Court’s inquiry, the Court cannot reliably 

define the requisite funding level to any greater degree. 

E. Transportation 

 The next essential cost-driver is transportation.  As explained above, the Court 

concludes that base adequacy aid must include funding for student transportation.  New 

Hampshire is a rural state, and students cannot access the opportunity for a 

constitutionally adequate education without getting to school.  Issues like poverty or 

parental work schedules cannot be permitted to interfere with such access.  Thus, some 

level of transportation services is undoubtedly essential. 

Like facilities costs, however, the Court’s ability to define the requisite funding 

level for transportation is limited.  The evidence amply demonstrates that the $315 

funding level included in the 2008 and 2018 Reports is woefully inadequate.  Indeed, as 

noted above, the evidence indicates transportation costs often exceed $1,000 per pupil.  

See, e.g., Pls.’ Ex. 29 (indicating ConVal spent $1,109.12 per elementary school pupil 

on transportation costs during 2021 fiscal year); Pls.’ Ex. 62 (indicating Winchester 

spent $1,619.51 per elementary school pupil on transportation costs during 2021 fiscal 

year).  Yet, as Dr. Rizzo Saunders acknowledges, it is difficult to determine a reliable, 

universal figure for this cost-driver, as urban areas will have lower transportation costs 

than rural ones.  Moreover, there are once again policy determinations at play: whether 

to fund transportation through 12th grade when existing statutes only expressly require 



50 
 

transportation through 10th grade.  Resolution of this issue could have a substantial 

impact on the requisite level of funding.  The legislature should have the opportunity to 

address this issue in the first instance.  See Claremont I, 138 N.H. at 192.  However, 

there must be a floor to this figure given the recursive nature between transportation 

costs and expenditures.  Based on the evidence submitted at trial, the Court finds that 

approximate mid-point between the costs identified in the 2008 and 2018 Legislative 

Reports and the actual expenditures is an appropriate – albeit very conservative – 

figure. 

Again drawing on both common sense and the testimony presented at trial, see 1 

NH Civil Jury Instruction 3.2, the Court concludes that transportation must be funded at 

a level that exceeds $750: slightly more than double the figures used in the 2008 and 

2018 Reports, but substantially less than actual per pupil costs incurred by many school 

districts.  Like the above-described threshold for facilities costs, the evidence 

demonstrates that funding transportation costs at this level would be constitutionally 

insufficient.  However, based on the limitations of the evidence presented at trial, the 

policy determinations involved with respect to this cost-driver, the wide range of costs 

incurred in each district, and the conservative nature of the Court’s inquiry, the Court 

cannot reliably define the requisite funding level with any greater specificity, but there is 

no doubt that it cannot be lower than $750. 

F. Cost-Drivers Added by Dr. Rizzo Saunders 

 For the reasons articulated above, the Court concludes that nurse services is an 

essential component of providing the opportunity for a constitutionally adequate 

education.  The Court further finds that in light of the relevant facts and circumstances, 



51 
 

including the practical reasons why a dedicated nurse for each school is far superior to 

a shared-nurse model, the $294 per pupil cost assigned by Dr. Rizzo Saunders is a 

reasonable, conservative figure.  Moreover, because schools without differentiated aid-

eligible students would still need nurse services, the Court concludes that it is 

appropriate and necessary to fund the entire $294 per pupil cost via base adequacy aid. 

Although the plaintiffs also urge the Court to require additional funding for food 

and superintendent services, the Court declines to include these amounts in setting a 

minimum funding level.  As explained above, the evidence demonstrates that some food 

service programs are self-funding, and that others could potentially become self-funding 

(or closer to it) by raising meal costs charged to paying customers.  Thus, although the 

legislature may conclude that funding food service programs is necessary or otherwise 

appropriate, the Court declines to impose such a requirement at this juncture.   

Similarly, although the Court finds that some amount of superintendent services 

is essential, the Court is not convinced that all costs associated with those services fall 

within the legislature’s definition of the opportunity for a constitutionally adequate 

education.  For example, schools require some amount of oversight to secure and pay 

for necessary staff, materials, and other services, but the evidence does not rule out the 

possibility that such tasks can be completed by principals and administrative assistants, 

the costs of which the Court already accounted for in reaching its conclusion.  Thus, 

while school districts may need superintendent services as a practical matter, the Court 

cannot conclude from the evidence presented that it is appropriate to require a 

particular level of base adequacy aid funding in connection with those services.25 

 
25 To the extent the legislature intended to fund these services via base adequacy aid, or otherwise elects 
to do so, the Court finds that the $194 per pupil costs calculated by Dr. Rizzo Saunders is a reasonable 



52 
 

*    *    * 

 To summarize, the evidence presented at trial demonstrates that the following 

cost-drivers, and associated per pupil minimum funding levels, are essential to the 

provision of the opportunity for a constitutionally adequate education, as defined by the 

legislature: teachers ($3,981.01); principals, administrative assistants, guidance 

counselors, library/media specialists, technology coordinators, and custodians ($901); 

instructional materials, technology, and professional development ($430); facilities 

operation and maintenance ($1,000); transportation ($750); and nurse services ($294).  

Combined, these amounts establish that base adequacy aid funding must exceed 

$7,356.01 per pupil: over $3,200 more than the current funding level of $4,100.  See 

Laws 2023, 79:150.   

As emphasized above, this $7,356.01 threshold figure is the product of 

conservative calculations designed to overcorrect for any conflicts or ambiguities in the 

evidence, as well as any unresolved policy determinations.  The Court’s calculations 

include a $3,000 (5%) reduction in average teacher salary from that proposed by the Dr. 

Rizzo Saunders, which in turn reduces NHRS and FICA payments.  Further, to 

overcorrect for the absence of concrete data concerning the number of teachers who 

opt for single-person or no health insurance coverage, the Court adjusted Dr. Rizzo 

Saunders’ benefits calculations to rely solely on the cost of two-person coverage 

(whereas Dr. Rizzo Saunders relied on an average of two-person coverage costs and 

family plan coverage costs).  In addition, to establish the ratio used in calculating per 

pupil teacher costs, the Court relied on a 6 out of 8 (or 3 out of 4) block model, despite 

 
and conservative figure for funding a full time superintendent position.  See Pls.’ Ex. 4.  Adding that 
amounts to the threshold figure described above results in a per pupil total of $7,550.01. 



53 
 

evidence that some teachers only instruct for 5 out of 8 blocks each day.  Moreover, the 

Court did not adjust the ratio to reflect the reality that schools cannot fill every seat in 

every class.26  In assigning a facilities cost, the Court reduced Dr. Rizzo Saunders’ 

number by $400 (28.57%) despite the absence of concrete evidence indicating even 

25% of her cost figure could be attributable to unrelated uses.  Lastly, although the 

evidence indicates that transportation costs often exceed $1,000 per pupil, the Court 

used a conservative figure of only $750 in calculating the minimum threshold level set 

here. 

In total, these conservative choices and overcorrections demonstrate that a base 

adequacy aid figure of $7,356.01 would in actuality be far too low and would likely not 

survive scrutiny.  Indeed, at the conclusion of this trial the Court felt confident that the 

requisite level of base adequacy aid funding is quite close to the $9,929 figure set forth 

in Dr. Rizzo Saunders’ calculations.  See Pls.’ Ex. 4.  That figure is remarkably similar to 

Dr. Baker’s number of $9,964 which, like Dr. Rizzo Saunders’ number, does not include 

the cost of transportation.  See Pls.’ Ex. 111 (Baker Report).  That figure is also 

remarkably similar to the results of an analysis Dr. Costrell previously performed to 

determine the base cost of an adequate education in Massachusetts: an analysis which, 

adjusted for inflation, suggests that cost would exceed $10,000 in 2023.27  It is also 

closer to the near-unanimous testimony of every school administrator who testified at 

trial. 

 
26 The Court’s use of such conservative ratios eliminates any potential impact of increased costs 
attributable to students who qualify for differentiated aid.   
27 As a matter of interest, the Court observes that in 2023, the legislature considered but ultimately 
rejected an education funding model that would have eliminated base adequacy and differentiated aid, 
opting instead to fund public education at half of certain statewide average expenditures.  See House Bill 
334 (2023).  Based on DOE estimates for fiscal year 2022, this would have resulted in a funding level of 
$9,517.04 per pupil.  See id. 



54 
 

Although the evidence demonstrates that a base adequacy aid level of $7,356.01 

would be constitutionally insufficient, the Court cannot set a higher threshold at this 

time.  Such a step is precluded by the limitations of the evidence presented at trial, as 

well as the involvement of certain policy considerations.  The Court is confident, 

however, that the guidance offered here will empower the legislature to meaningfully 

consider and appropriately respond to the relevant issues.  In light of the compelling 

evidence presented at trial, the Court trusts that the legislature will set a base adequacy 

aid figure meaningfully higher than the $7,356.01 threshold: a figure that will fulfill the 

State’s obligation to fund the opportunity for a constitutionally adequate public 

education.  See Claremont II, 142 N.H. at 473.   

Consistent with the foregoing, the plaintiffs’ request for injunctive relief is 

GRANTED IN PART and DENIED IN PART.  See Doc. 83 at 25.  

Attorney’s Fees 

Before concluding, the Court must address the plaintiffs’ request for an award of 

attorney’s fees.  See Doc. 83 at 26; see also Doc. 245 at 33.  The State’s post-trial 

filings do not meaningfully address this issue.  As explained in the Court’s June 5, 2019 

Order, the Supreme Court has previously awarded attorney’s fees in the school funding 

context under the substantial benefit theory.  See Doc. 51 at 94 (citing Claremont Sch. 

Dist. v. Governor (Costs and Attorney’s Fees) (“Claremont VIII”), 144 N.H. 590, 595–99 

(1999)).  This theory permits cost shifting when a particular action confers a “substantial 

benefit” on the public at large.  See id. (citation omitted).  The intent of the theory is not 

to penalize the opposing party, but to compensate plaintiffs for efforts undertaken on 

behalf of the public.  See id. (citation omitted). 



55 
 

The plaintiffs brought this action in an effort to hold the State accountable for the 

school funding obligations imposed by Part II, Article 83 of the New Hampshire 

Constitution.  In doing so, the plaintiffs sought to safeguard the fundamental right held 

by New Hampshire children to “a constitutionally adequate public education . . . .”  

Claremont II, 142 N.H. at 473.  As set forth above, the plaintiffs have successfully 

demonstrated that the current amount of base adequacy aid funding is constitutionally 

insufficient, and must be increased to more than $7356.01 per pupil.  Thus, like the 

plaintiffs in Claremont VIII, the plaintiffs in this action “have contributed to the vindication 

of important constitutional rights,” thereby conferring “a significant benefit upon the 

general public,” which “would have had to pay the fees incurred if the general public had 

brought the suit.”  144 N.H. at 598.  The Court thus concludes that this is “an 

appropriate, if not compelling, case in which to exercise [the Court’s] inherent equitable 

powers and award reasonable attorney’s fees to the plaintiff school districts . . . .”  Id. 

 Consistent with the foregoing, the plaintiffs’ request for an award of reasonable 

attorney’s fees is GRANTED.  The plaintiffs are directed to file a detailed affidavit of 

fees within thirty (30) days of the date on the Clerk’s Notice of Decision accompanying 

this Order.  See Scheele v. Vill. Dist. of Eidelweiss, 122 N.H. 1015, 1020–21 (1982) 

(explaining party requesting fees must submit an affidavit “outlining in reasonable detail 

the actual time spent . . . and setting forth a rate for that person who performed the 

work”); In re Metevier, 146 N.H. 62, 64 (2001) (explaining that when determining 

reasonableness of requested attorney’s fees, courts consider “the amount involved, the 

nature, novelty, and difficulty of the litigation, the attorney’s standing and the skill 

employed, the time devoted, the customary fees in the area, the extent to which the 



56 
 

attorney prevailed, and the benefit thereby bestowed on his clients”).  The State will 

thereafter be afforded a period of twenty (20) days to file a response, if any. 

Conclusion 

 For the same reasons articulated in the Court’s June 5, 2019 Order, see Doc. 51 

at 96, the Court does not take the decisions outlined here lightly.  Moreover, the Court 

recognizes the significant implications of this Order, and the potential for political strain.  

However, the Court cannot ignore the substantial evidence put forth by the plaintiffs: 

evidence that amply demonstrates the insufficiency of the existing base adequacy aid 

figure.  In light of that evidence, the State’s mid-trial motion for a directed verdict is 

DENIED, see Doc. 235, and the plaintiffs’ request for a declaratory judgment deeming 

RSA 198:40-a, II(a), unconstitutional on its face is GRANTED.  See Doc. 83 at 26.  The 

plaintiffs’ request for injunctive relief is also GRANTED insofar as the Court has 

established a conservative minimum threshold of $7,356.01 which base adequacy aid 

funding must exceed, but is otherwise DENIED.  See id. at 25.  Lastly, the plaintiffs’ 

request for an award of reasonable attorney’s fees is GRANTED.  See id. at 26. 

 Lastly, given the timing of this Order and the fact that the Court is 

contemporaneously releasing an order in Rand v State of New Hampshire finding the 

State’s administration of the Statewide Education Property Tax (SWEPT) 

unconstitutional, the deadline to file a Motion to Reconsider is extended to 30 days. 

SO ORDERED. 

 

Date:  November 20, 2023    

Hon. David W. Ruoff 
Rockingham County Superior Court 



THE STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE 
SUPERIOR COURT 

 

ROCKINGHAM, SS. SUPERIOR COURT 

 

Steven Rand, et al. 

 

v. 

 

The State of New Hampshire 

 

No. 215-2022-CV-00167 

 

ORDER ON CROSS-MOTIONS FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT1 
 

In this case, the plaintiffs challenge the manner in which the State carries out 

certain education-related obligations imposed by the State Constitution.  See 

Contoocook Valley Sch. Dist. v. State, 174 N.H. 154, 156–57 (2021) (“ConVal”); see 

also Doc. 17 (Pls.’ Am. Compl.).  The parties now cross-move for partial summary 

judgment regarding the plaintiffs’ claim that the State administers the Statewide 

Education Property Tax (“SWEPT”) in an unconstitutional fashion.  See Doc. 49 (Pls.’ 

Mot. Summ. J. – SWEPT); Doc. 56 (State’s Obj. & Cross-Mot. – SWEPT); Doc. 53 

(Coalition’s2 Obj. & Cross-Mot.); see also Doc. 17.  The Court held a hearing on the 

motions on July 12, 2023.  For the reasons that follow, the plaintiffs’ motion is 

GRANTED, and the cross-motions filed by the State and the Coalition are DENIED. 

 
1 The Court intentionally delayed issuing this Order so that it could be issued contemporaneously with the 

order in Contoocook Valley School District, et al. v. State of New Hampshire, docket no. 213-2019-CV-
00069.  The Court did this to afford the parties an opportunity to assess how or if that order impacts the 
procedure in this case.  The SWEPT issue in that case was withdrawn by the plaintiff.  To the extent the 
delay has frustrated any of the parties, the Court apologizes but remains convinced it was in the best 
interest of justice to do so. 
2 The Coalition represents a group of New Hampshire cities and towns that oppose the plaintiffs’ 
challenge to the SWEPT.  See Doc. 48 (Dec. 5, 2022 Order).  On December 5, 2022, the Court allowed 
the Coalition to intervene solely as to this aspect of the case.  See id. 

11/20/2023 11:09 AM
Rockingham Superior Court

This is a Service Document For Case: 215-2022-CV-00167



2 
 

Standard of Review 

“In considering . . . cross-motions for summary judgment, [courts] consider the 

evidence in the light most favorable to each party in its capacity as the non-moving 

party.”  ConVal, 174 N.H. at 162–63.  Summary judgment shall be granted where “there 

is no genuine issue as to any material fact” and “the moving party is entitled to judgment 

as a matter of law.”  RSA 491:8-a, III.  As the parties acknowledged during the July 12, 

2023 hearing, the facts underlying the plaintiffs’ Part II, Article 5 challenge to the 

SWEPT are undisputed.  Rather, the relevant dispute centers on the proper 

interpretation of our State’s education funding jurisprudence, and how the law applies to 

the existing education funding and tax scheme.   

Education Funding Jurisprudence 

“Under our education funding jurisprudence, Part II, Article 83 of the State 

Constitution ‘imposes a duty on the State to provide a constitutionally adequate 

education . . . in the public schools in New Hampshire and to guarantee adequate 

funding.’”  ConVal, 174 N.H. at 156 (quoting Claremont Sch. Dist. v. Governor, 138 N.H. 

183, 184 (1993) (“Claremont I”)).  “To comply with that duty the State must ‘define an 

adequate education, determine the cost, fund it with constitutional taxes, and ensure its 

delivery through accountability.’”  Id. at 156–57 (quoting Londonderry Sch. Dist. v. State, 

154 N.H. 153, 155–56 (2006) (“Londonderry I”).  Under Part II, Article 5 of the State 

Constitution, “constitutional taxes” must “be proportionate and reasonable—that is, 

equal in valuation and uniform in rate.”  Claremont Sch. Dist. v. Governor, 142 N.H. 462, 

468 (1997) (“Claremont II”) (citations and quotations omitted)). 



3 
 

Over time, the legislature has crafted several tax schemes aimed at complying 

with the above-described constitutional obligations.  As of December 17, 1997, 

properties located within a particular school district were taxed at whatever rate was 

necessary to “meet the obligations of the school budget” within that district.  See 

Claremont II, 142 N.H. at 467 (explaining Department of Revenue Administration 

(“DRA”) set unique tax rates for properties in each school district).  In Claremont II, a 

group of school districts, students, taxpayers, and parents successfully challenged this 

tax scheme.  See id. at 465.  The Claremont II plaintiffs argued (as relevant here) “that 

the school tax is a unique form of the property tax mandated by the State to pay for its 

duty to provide an adequate education” and thus “is a State tax that should be imposed 

at a uniform rate throughout the State.”  Id. at 467.  The State countered that setting 

district-specific tax rates was constitutionally appropriate, characterizing the school tax 

as “a local tax determined by budgeting decisions made by the district’s legislative body 

and spent only in the district . . . .”  Id. at 467–68 (noting State’s argument that this 

practice allowed each school district “to decide how to organize and operate their 

schools”).  The Claremont II court concluded that because “the purpose of the school 

tax” was “overwhelmingly a State purpose”—i.e., fulfilling the State’s duty “to provide a 

constitutionally adequate education . . . and to guarantee adequate funding”—it 

constituted a State tax.  Id. at 469. 

Having resolved that issue, the Claremont II court next analyzed whether the tax 

scheme was “proportional and reasonable throughout the State in accordance with” Part 

II, Article 5.  Id. at 470; see also id. at 468 (“Part II, article 5 of the State Constitution 

provides that the legislature may ‘impose and levy proportional and reasonable 



4 
 

assessments, rates, and taxes, upon all the inhabitants of, and residents within, the said 

state.’”).  Citing evidence that the equalized tax rate for the 1994–95 school year was 

approximately four times higher in Pittsfield than in Moultonborough, the court 

concluded that the tax was disproportionate and unreasonable.  Id. at 470–71.  In 

reaching this conclusion, the court emphasized that “because the diffusion of knowledge 

and learning is regarded by the State Constitution as ‘essential to the preservation of a 

free government,’ N.H. CONST. pt. II, art. 83, it is only just that those who enjoy such 

government should equally assist in contributing to its preservation.”  Claremont II, 142 

N.H. at 470–71.  Given these conclusions, the court explained that “[t]o the extent . . . 

the property tax is used in the future to fund the provision of an adequate education, the 

tax must be administered in a manner that is equal in valuation and uniform in rate 

throughout the State.”  Id. 

 In response to Claremont II, the legislature solicited an advisory opinion from the 

Supreme Court regarding the legality of an alternative tax scheme.  See Opinion of the 

Justices (School Financing), 142 N.H. at 892–97.  As relevant here, the proposed 

scheme “purport[ed] to establish a uniform State education tax rate based upon the 

equalized value of all taxable real property in the State.”  Id. at 899.  However, the 

scheme included “a ‘special abatement’ for ‘the amount of state education tax 

apportioned to each town in excess of the product of the statewide per pupil cost of an 

adequate education times the average daily membership in residence for the town.”  Id. 

(cleaned up).  Under the proposed scheme, the DRA would “calculate each town’s tax 

by multiplying the State education tax rate by the total equalized value of the property 

within it, less any special abatement.”  Id. (cleaned up).  “Thus, the special abatement 



5 
 

applie[d] before any taxpayer within a given town receive[d] a tax bill.”  Id. (expressing 

Supreme Court’s view that substantive legal issues would “remain unchanged” if 

proposed scheme provided for actual collection of revenue raised through uniform State 

education tax, and thereafter reimbursed taxpayers pursuant to the special abatement). 

Ultimately, the Supreme Court concluded that the proposed scheme would not 

pass constitutional muster.  See id. at 902.  The court explained that as a result of the 

special abatement, “the effective tax rate is reduced below the uniform State education 

tax rate in any town that can raise more revenue than it needs to provide the 

legislatively defined ‘adequate education’ for its children:” 

For example, in those towns where there are no children, the special 
abatement reduces the effective tax rate to zero.  Meanwhile, in any town 
where the property value is insufficient to support the revenue required to 
educate local children adequately at the uniform State education tax rate, 
the effective rate remains equal to the uniform State education tax rate.  
Those towns receive a grant from the State to meet the otherwise unfunded 
cost of an adequate education.  Although such towns would be fully funded, 
the owners of property therein would pay taxes at a higher rate than those 
in towns with a surplus of revenue, which would receive the special 
abatement. 
 

Id. at 899–900.   

 Recognizing that tax abatements and exemptions “necessarily result in a 

disproportionate tax burden,” the Supreme Court explained that such an outcome is 

permissible under Part II, Article 5 only when abatements are “supported by good cause 

and exemptions by just reasons.”  Id. at 900.  The court concluded that the above-

described special abatement would not meet that standard: 

Proponents . . . assert that the special abatement is designed to protect 
towns from financially contributing to the adequate education of children in 
other towns or school districts.  Essentially, the proponents seek to measure 
proportionality and fairness on a municipality-by-municipality or district-by-
district basis, rather than statewide.  But, to the extent that a property tax is 



6 
 

used to raise revenue to satisfy the State’s obligation to provide an 
adequate education, it must be proportional across the State . . . . 
 

Id. at 901 (also explaining that possibility of “social unrest cannot be a factor 

in . . . constitutional review” of proposed tax scheme).  In addition, the court again 

emphasized the statewide benefits arising out of public education: 

Because the diffusion of knowledge and learning is regarded by the State 
Constitution as essential to the preservation of a free government, it is only 
just that those who enjoy such government should equally assist in 
contributing to its preservation . . . .  This obligation cannot be avoided or 
lessened by the mere circumstance of a town having few children or a town 
having a wealth of property value, including wealth generated by the 
presence of heavy industry.  
 
It should not be forgotten that New Hampshire is not a random collection of 
isolated cities and towns . . . .  The benefits of adequately educated children 
are shared statewide . . . .   
 

Id. at 901–02 (cleaned up).  In light of the foregoing, the court concluded that because 

property owners who did not benefit from the special abatement would bear “an 

increased tax burden,” and “such disproportionality [wa]s not supported by good cause 

or a just reason,” the proposed education funding scheme would violate “both the plain 

wording of Part II, Article 5 and the express language of Claremont II.”  Id. at 902. 

 After receiving the Supreme Court’s guidance, “the legislature passed an act in 

April 1999 ‘establishing a uniform education property tax’” and omitting any special 

abatement.  See Claremont Sch. Dist. v. Governor (Statewide Property Tax Phase-In), 

144 N.H. 210, 212 (1999) (“Claremont III”) (citation omitted).  Pursuant to the act, “[i]n 

each municipality in which the education property tax exceed[ed] the amount necessary 

to fund an adequate education, the excess” was to be “remitted” to the DRA.  Id. at 213 

(citation omitted).  Notably, however, the act included a “phase-in” provision which 

provided that in certain property-rich towns, the full tax rate would be “imposed 



7 
 

gradually over five years, while taxpayers in the remaining towns [would] pay the full 

rate immediately.”  Id.  

 In Claremont III, the plaintiffs challenged (among other things) the 

constitutionality of the phase-in provision.  See id. at 212.  Although the State 

“acknowledged . . . that facially the phase-in perpetuate[d] a disproportionality for five 

years,” the State nevertheless argued that the phase-in could “be viewed as a partial 

abatement” or a “partial exemption” of the tax liability in property-rich towns.  See id. at 

213.  The Supreme Court summarily dismissed the State’s abatement argument, 

explaining the phase-in did not constitute a permissible abatement because it did “not 

limit relief to persons aggrieved by the assessment of a tax.”  Id. (citation omitted).  

Further, the court concluded that the phase-in was not a valid tax exemption because it 

did not serve the general welfare.  See id. at 212–14.  In reaching this conclusion, the 

court reasoned that although the phase-in was intended to “ameliorate the possibility of 

foreclosures, bankruptcies, or similar adverse economic consequences that could 

occur” in the property-rich communities, “[t]he classification created by the phase-in 

encompasse[d] taxpayers who d[id] not merit special tax treatment in accordance with 

the just reasons offered by the legislature . . . .”  Id. at 213–16. 

 Before considering whether the phase-in provision could be severed from the act 

(and ultimately concluding that it could not), the Supreme Court took the opportunity to 

emphasize and clarify important aspects of our State’s taxation jurisprudence:  

[W]e give heed to the words of Chief Justice Doe written more than one 
hundred years ago: “A state law selecting a person or class or municipal 
collection of persons for favors and privileges withheld from others in the 
same situation . . . is at war with a principle which this court is not authorized 
to surrender.” . . . In the field of taxation, the principle of uniformity and 
equality of rights is of paramount importance and has been embodied in the 



8 
 

“proportional and reasonable” language of Part II, Article 5 of our State 
Constitution since June 2, 1784.  
 
In this case, the classification at issue imposes a State tax on property at 
different rates for five years based solely on the location of the property.  
We can find no case where different rates of taxation exist in a State tax 
from one municipality to another.  We can conceive of none that would pass 
muster under the words of Chief Justice Doe or the provisions of Part II, 
Article 5 . . . . our language on taxes requiring uniformity and equality is not 
something invented in the Claremont cases, but is the far-reaching 
language of constitutional mandate which has guided every tax decision of 
this court for over two hundred years. 

 
Id. at 217 (citations omitted) (quoting State v. Griffin, 86 N.H. 609, 614 (1894)).   

In response to Claremont III, the legislature “reenacted the statewide property tax 

without the phase-in . . . .”  Sirrell v. State, 146 N.H. 364, 367 (2001).  Under that tax 

scheme, communities which raised funds “beyond that necessary to fund an adequate 

education for their students” were “required to pay the excess . . . to the education trust 

fund for distribution to communities unable to raise sufficient funds to meet their cost of 

adequacy.”  See id.  By 2006, however, the legislature had again modified the education 

tax scheme.  See Londonderry Sch. Dist. SAU #12 v. State, No. 226-2005-EQ-00406, 

2006 WL 563120 (N.H. Super. Mar. 8, 2006) (Groff, J.) (“Londonderry”) at *6–7 

(describing changes to tax scheme arising out of House Bill 616).  As relevant here, the 

legislature eliminated the requirement that excess education funds be remitted to the 

State, instead permitting property-rich communities to “retain all the revenue they 

raise[d]” under the education tax scheme “in excess of what [wa]s needed to support 

the cost of an adequate education.”  Id. at *13.  In Londonderry, a group of school 

districts, School Administrative Units and towns argued that this change “violate[d] Part 

II, Article 5” because it resulted “in some ‘property poor’ communities bearing a 

disproportional share of educational expenses through local taxes.”  Id.   



9 
 

Citing the jurisprudence discussed above, Judge Groff agreed with the plaintiffs:  

Under HB 616, the real effect of having the “property-rich” municipalities 
retain excess [education tax] proceeds is to permit these municipalities to 
avoid payment of that amount of the statewide education property tax which 
exceeds the amount necessary to provide an adequate education for their 
children.  At the same time, “property-poor” municipalities will be required 
to use the full amount of the statewide enhanced education tax assessment 
revenues collected to support the cost of an adequate education.  
Therefore, HB 616 creates a non-uniform tax rate and the Court finds that 
no constitutional justification can be articulated to permit the retention of 
those excess funds by the “property-rich” municipalities. 
 

Id. at *15 (noting “special abatement” and phase-in provisions of prior proposed 

legislation were deemed unconstitutional because they permitted municipalities to avoid 

payment of statewide education property tax which exceeded the amount necessary to 

provide an “adequate education” within relevant school district).   

On appeal, the Supreme Court concluded that it could not analyze whether the 

State was funding public education in a constitutional manner until the legislature 

appropriately defined the scope of a constitutionally adequate education.  See 

Londonderry I, 154 N.H. at 162.  In response, the legislature enacted sweeping changes 

to the public education laws, including the funding scheme.  See Londonderry Sch. Dist. 

SAU #12 v. State, 157 N.H. 734, 735 (2008) (“Londonderry II”).  As a result, the 

Supreme Court determined that the remaining challenges to House Bill 616 had 

become moot.  See id. at 736.  Thus, the Supreme Court has not definitively determined 

whether allowing a municipality to retain excess education funds—that is, funds 

generated under a statewide education tax scheme which exceed the cost of providing 

the opportunity for a constitutionally adequate education to the public school students 

living in that municipality’s school district—runs afoul of Part II, Article 5. 

 



10 
 

Existing Education Funding and Tax Scheme 

 Today, RSA 198:40-a, II, sets forth the annual per-pupil cost of providing the 

opportunity for a constitutionally adequate education (hereinafter “adequacy aid”).  The 

State raises adequacy aid funds via the SWEPT.  See ConVal, 174 N.H. at 159.  

Specifically, RSA 76:3 requires that the DRA “set the education tax rate at a level 

sufficient to generate” a statutorily-defined total “when imposed on all persons and 

property taxable pursuant to RSA 76:8, except property subject to tax under RSA 82 

and RSA 83-F.”  Funds raised via this tax are “collected and distributed at a local level 

and . . . used to meet the cost of an adequate education.”  See Doc. 18 (State’s Am. 

Answer 1st Am. Compl.) ¶ 19. 

 “The State admits that since 2011, communities for which the amount raised by 

the SWEPT exceeds the total amount of adequacy aid paid [to that community] by the 

State have been permitted to retain the excess . . . .”  Id. ¶ 22; see also Laws 2011, 

258:7 (eff. July 1, 2011) (eliminating requirement that excess SWEPT funds be paid to 

DRA “for deposit in the education trust fund”).  The State further acknowledges that for 

certain areas in New Hampshire, the DRA has “set negative local education tax rates” 

which mathematically offset most if not all of the applicable equalized SWEPT rate.  See 

Doc. 18 ¶ 35; Doc. 59 (Aff. Bruce Kneuer) ¶ 18 (“A negative Local Education Rate may 

occur . . . when a municipal entity . . . has minimal or no public education responsibilities 

within its boundaries . . . .”).  For example, for the 2020–21 school year, the DRA set a 

local education tax rate for Hale’s Location of negative $1.84 / $1000, whereas the 

equalized SWEPT rate for that same area was $1.85 / $1000.  See Doc. 18 ¶ 36. 

   



11 
 

Analysis 

 The plaintiffs argue that because the State allows communities to retain excess 

SWEPT funds or offsets the equalized SWEPT rate via negative local education rates, 

the SWEPT is not being administered in a manner that is “uniform in rate,” as required 

by Part II, Article 5.  See Doc. 50 (Pls.’ Mem Law) at 3, 14.  The parties now cross-move 

for summary judgment with respect to this issue.  Compare Doc. 49 with Docs. 53 and 

56.  Before turning to the merits of the parties’ arguments, the Court must address two 

preliminary matters.  First, in support of their cross-motions for summary judgment, the 

State and the Coalition maintain that the SWEPT should be presumed constitutional, 

and that the plaintiffs bear the burden of establishing a “clear and substantial conflict” 

between the SWEPT and the State Constitution.  See Doc. 53 at 3 (citing ConVal, 174 

N.H. at 161, for proposition that Court may only declare SWEPT unconstitutional “upon 

‘inescapable grounds’”); accord Doc. 57 (State’s Mem. Law) at 6.  For the reasons 

outlined below, the Court concludes that if the State and the Coalition have 

appropriately framed the relevant standards, the plaintiffs have overcome the 

presumption of constitutionality and met their burden of showing a clear and substantial 

conflict.  Accordingly, the Court will assume, without deciding, that those standards 

apply here.  Cf. Canty v. Hopkins, 146 N.H. 151, 156 (2001) (declining to reach 

arguments that would not alter court’s conclusion). 

 Second, in support of their motion for partial summary judgment, the plaintiffs 

have submitted data tables generated by Douglass Hall.  See Doc. 51 (Pls.’ State. Mat. 

Facts) Ex. A (Aff. Douglass Hall) (“Hall Aff.”).  These tables indicate which New 

Hampshire communities generated “SWEPT in Excess of Adequacy” in certain tax 



12 
 

years, and they also reflect Hall’s calculations as to what the SWEPT rate would have 

been had such communities only collected the funds necessary to cover their own 

adequacy aid needs.  See id. ¶¶ 4–9.  The tables contain similar information concerning 

communities for which the DRA has set negative local tax rates.  See id. ¶¶ 10–13.   

 The Coalition suggests Hall’s work deserves little weight.   Doc. 53 at 14 n.3 

(noting Hall’s affiliation with N.H. School Funding Fairness Project, and that Hall did not 

“explain why he selected” data points reflected in tables).  Notably, however, the 

Coalition concedes that Hall’s tables were “created from State data,” and the Coalition 

does not suggest that Hall misreported the data, or that the data is otherwise unreliable.  

See id.  Nor does the Coalition assign error to Hall’s calculations.  See id.  As there is 

no dispute regarding the validity of the data underlying his work, the Court concludes 

that it is appropriate to substantively consider Hall’s calculations, as reported in the 

tables, in ruling on the parties’ cross-motions for summary judgment. 

 The Court now turns to the substance of the parties’ cross-motions.  As the 

parties raise somewhat distinct arguments concerning “excess” SWEPT communities 

and “negative tax rate” communities, the Court will address each category, in turn. 

I. Excess SWEPT Communities 

Relying on the caselaw discussed above, the plaintiffs argue that allowing 

municipalities to retain “excess” SWEPT funds beyond those needed to meet local 

adequacy aid requirements is the functional equivalent of the special abatement and 

phase-in schemes which the Supreme Court previously deemed unconstitutional.  See 

Doc. 50 at 14.  In particular, the plaintiffs argue that property-poor communities which 

do not generate excess SWEPT funds are effectively paying a higher SWEPT rate than 



13 
 

those which do generate and are allowed to retain excess funds.  See id. at 15.  As a 

result, the plaintiffs argue that the SWEPT is being administered in a manner which is 

not “uniform in rate,” as required under Part II, Article 5.  See id. at 15–18.  In response, 

the State and the Coalition argue that the legislature’s decision to permit retention of 

excess SWEPT funds constitutes a spending decision and not a tax, rendering the prior 

school funding cases distinguishable.  See Doc. 57 at 1–2; Doc. 53 at 2.  The State and 

the Coalition thus assert that the plaintiffs’ Part II, Article 5 challenge to the SWEPT 

must fail.  See Doc. 57 at 2; Doc. 53 at 2. 

Upon review, the Court agrees with the plaintiffs’ characterization of this issue.  

The plaintiffs do not challenge the amount of money the State spends on education in 

one community versus another.  Rather, as in Claremont II, the plaintiffs in this case 

emphasize that the SWEPT “is a unique form of the property tax mandated by the State 

to pay for its duty to provide an adequate education.”  See Claremont II, 142 N.H. at 

467; see also Doc. 61 (Pls.’ Reply – SWEPT) at 1–2 (noting in a footnote that SWEPT 

“is not a generic tax for education” but “a specific state tax to pay for the State’s 

constitutional duty to fund adequacy”).  The plaintiffs thus contend that by allowing 

property-rich communities to retain excess SWEPT funds, the State is administering the 

SWEPT in a manner which effectively reduces the SWEPT rate paid by those 

communities.  In other words, although the SWEPT rate is uniform on its face, the 

plaintiffs argue that any scheme which diverts SWEPT funds to purposes other than 

adequacy aid lowers the effective SWEPT rate paid by certain communities, thus 

running afoul of Part II, Article 5.   



14 
 

As set forth above, the plaintiffs’ contention finds substantial support in our 

State’s education funding jurisprudence.  Indeed, the Claremont II court expressly noted 

that “[t]o the extent . . . the property tax is used . . . to fund the provision of an adequate 

education, the tax must be administered in a manner that is equal in valuation and 

uniform in rate throughout the State.”  142 N.H. at 470 (emphasis added).  The court’s 

broader discussion of the administration of such a tax, rather than just the facial tax 

rate, aligns with the plaintiffs’ position.  See id.  Similarly, in Opinion of the Justices 

(School Financing), the Supreme Court concluded that the proposed “special 

abatement” impermissibly resulted in a lower “effective” education tax rate for certain 

communities.  See 142 N.H. at 902.  While recognizing that the proposed tax would be 

uniform on its face, the Supreme Court concluded that the proposed tax would violate 

Part II, Article 5 because “[a]pplication of the special abatement [would] guarantee[] that 

property owners paying the full rate [bore] an increased tax burden . . . .”  Id. at 901–02 

(explaining that “effective tax rate is reduced below the uniform State education tax rate 

in any town that can raise more revenue than it needs to provide the legislatively 

defined ‘adequate education’ for its children”); see also id. at 899 (noting court’s 

conclusions “would remain unchanged” if proposed scheme had provided for actual 

collection of revenue, then reimbursed taxpayers pursuant to special abatement).   

Relying on this reasoning, Judge Groff determined in Londonderry that the 

retention of surplus education tax funds violated Part II, Article 5 because it allowed 

property-rich municipalities “to avoid payment of that amount of the statewide education 

property tax which exceeds the amount necessary to provide an adequate education for 

their children.”  2006 WL 563120, at *15.  While Judge Groff’s holding on this issue and 



15 
 

other aspects of the jurisprudence discussed above do not constitute binding precedent, 

the Court is persuaded by the reasoning set forth therein.  As Judge Groff noted, where 

education taxes like the SWEPT are intended to fulfill the State’s constitutional 

obligation to fund adequacy aid, the effective rate of such a tax is only uniform if all 

proceeds of the tax are directed to that purpose.  See id.   

In this case, the existing education funding and tax scheme permits communities 

to retain surplus SWEPT funds which exceed local adequacy aid needs.  As a result, 

such funds are not remitted to the State for use in meeting the adequacy aid needs of 

other communities where SWEPT revenues fall short of adequacy.  While communities 

which retain excess SWEPT funds must use those funds for education, the excess 

funds are not used to satisfy the State’s adequacy aid obligations.3  By contrast, 

communities which do not generate such an excess must use all collected SWEPT 

revenue to satisfy the State’s adequacy aid obligations.  In short, communities which do 

not generate excess SWEPT funds use all revenues generated under the facial SWEPT 

rate for adequacy aid purposes, and excess SWEPT communities do not. 

Given the unique nature of the SWEPT—a State tax meant to generate the 

funding necessary to meet the State’s constitutional adequacy aid obligations, see 

Claremont II, 142 N.H. at 467—there can be no meaningful dispute that allowing 

communities to retain excess SWEPT funds lowers the effective SWEPT rate paid by 

those communities.  See Hall. Aff. Table 1.  Accordingly, the Court concludes that 

allowing some communities to retain excess SWEPT funds impermissibly results in a 

 
3 In the event the amount of adequacy aid is increased in the future, such a change would not undermine 
the conclusion that a community’s retention of SWEPT funds generated in excess of adequacy aid 
effectively reduces the SWEPT rate for that community, in violation of Part II, Article 5. 



16 
 

disproportionate tax rate, in violation of Part II, Article 5.  See Claremont II, 142 N.H. at 

467; see also Opinion of the Justices (School Financing), 142 N.H. at 902; Londonderry, 

2006 WL 563120, at *15.  In light of the foregoing, the plaintiffs have overcome any 

applicable presumption of constitutionality regarding the retention of excess SWEPT 

funds, and have further established a “clear and substantial conflict” between this 

aspect of the SWEPT, as administered, and Part II, Article 5 of the State Constitution.  

See Doc. 53 at 3; Doc. 57 at 6.  The plaintiffs’ motion for summary judgment is thus 

GRANTED with respect to this issue, and the corresponding aspects of the competing 

motions filed by the State and the Coalition are DENIED.  

II. Negative Tax Rate Communities 

The plaintiffs similarly argue that by setting negative local education tax rates in 

communities with little to no education expenses, the State is impermissibly reducing 

the effective SWEPT rate for those communities.  See Doc. 50 at 16 (arguing this 

scheme is “virtually identical” to the special abatement scheme deemed unconstitutional 

in Opinion of the Justices, 142 N.H. at 899); see also Hall Aff. Table 3.  In response, the 

State contends that the communities at issue, which are generally “unincorporated 

places,” are not and need not be part of the SWEPT tax base.  See Doc. 57 at 14–18.4  

In other words, the State does not deny that negative local education tax rates 

effectively reduce or eliminate SWEPT liability, but argues this outcome is contemplated 

by the relevant statutory scheme and is constitutionally permissible.  See id.   

Upon review, the Court again agrees with the plaintiffs.  As the Supreme Court 

has repeatedly emphasized, the public education system benefits the entire State, not 

 
4 The Coalition does not directly address the negative local education tax rate issue in their filings.  See 
Docs. 53; 63 (Coalition’s Reply). 



17 
 

merely those communities in which publicly-educated children reside.  See Claremont II, 

142 N.H. at 470 (“[B]ecause the diffusion of knowledge and learning is regarded by the 

State Constitution as ‘essential to the preservation of a free government’ . . .  it is only 

just that those who enjoy such government should equally assist in contributing to its 

preservation.”); Opinion of the Justices (School Financing), 142 N.H. at 901–02 (“The 

benefits of adequately educated children are shared statewide . . . .”).  Of particular 

relevance here, even property owners in uninhabited locations benefit from the 

preservation of our State’s government, without which their property interests would be 

put in jeopardy.  See Claremont II, 142 N.H. at 470.  Accordingly, the fact that few if any 

publicly-educable children reside within some unincorporated places does not constitute 

a “just reason[]” for reducing or eliminating SWEPT liability in those locations.  See 

Opinion of the Justices (School Financing), 142 N.H. at 900 (explaining Part II, Article 5 

requires that tax exemptions be “supported by . . . just reasons”). 

In light of this conclusion, the Court is not persuaded by the State’s proffered 

interpretation of the term “municipalities,” as used in RSA 76:3 and 76:8.  See Doc. 57 

at 14–15 (arguing “municipalities,” as used in relevant statutes, does not include 

unincorporated places).  It is well settled that New Hampshire courts “must construe a 

statute to avoid a conflict with constitutional rights whenever reasonably possible.”  

Bellevue Properties, Inc. v. 13 Green St. Properties, LLC, 174 N.H. 513, 517 (2021) 

(citation and quotations omitted).  For the reasons outlined above, if the legislature 

intended to exempt unincorporated places from contributing to the State’s education 

funding obligations, such an exemption would not be supported by the requisite “just 

reasons.”  See Opinion of the Justices (School Financing), 142 N.H. at 900.  



18 
 

Accordingly, the Court cannot construe the term “municipalities” as excluding 

unincorporated places in this context.  See Bellevue Props., 174 N.H. at 517.5   

For the reasons outlined above, the Court concludes that the setting of negative 

local education tax rates which offset the SWEPT to any degree runs afoul of Part II, 

Article 5.  Accordingly, the plaintiffs have overcome any applicable presumption of 

constitutionality regarding the offsetting of SWEPT rates via negative local tax rates, 

and have further established a “clear and substantial conflict” between this aspect of the 

SWEPT, as administered, and Part II, Article 5 of the State Constitution.  See Doc. 53 at 

3; Doc. 57 at 6.  The plaintiffs’ motion for summary judgment is thus GRANTED with 

respect to this issue, and the corresponding aspects of the competing motions filed by 

the State and the Coalition are DENIED.  

III. Remedy 

Having found that the plaintiffs are entitled to judgment as a matter of law 

regarding their Part II, Article 5 challenge to the administration of the SWEPT, the Court 

must now determine the appropriate remedy.  As noted in the Court’s December 5, 

2022 Order on the plaintiffs’ motion for preliminary injunctive relief, “[t]he issuance of 

injunctions, either temporary or permanent, has long been considered an extraordinary 

remedy.”  Doc. 48 at 8 (quoting N.H. Dept. Envtl. Servs. v. Mottolo, 155 N.H. 57, 63 

(2007)).  Moreover, “the granting of an injunction ‘is a matter within the sound discretion 

of the Court exercised upon a consideration of all the circumstances of each case and 

controlled by established principles of equity.’” Id. (citing UniFirst Corp. v. City of 

 
5 Although the State’s Reply identifies other property types which are not subject to the SWEPT under the 
existing scheme, see Doc. 64 at 3, the State does not cite (and the Court is not aware of) any legal basis 
for rejecting a valid Part II, Article 5 challenge because the relevant tax may also run afoul of the 
constitution in other respects.   



19 
 

Nashua, 130 N.H. 11, 14 (1987) for proposition that courts may consider public interest 

in evaluating requests for injunctive relief).  

Given the lengthy history of constitutional violations arising out of the State’s 

various education tax schemes, the plaintiffs urge the Court to act swiftly in curing the 

above-described constitutional infirmities.  See Doc. 50 at 18–19 (quoting Claremont III, 

143 N.H. at 158, for proposition that “[a]bsent extraordinary circumstances, delay in 

achieving a constitutional system is inexcusable”); see also Doc. 61 at 12–14 (noting 

plaintiffs first sought preliminary injunctive relief in October 2022).  For its part, the State 

urges the Court not to “impose any remedy that disrupts the current municipal budget 

cycle,” arguing that if any remedy is warranted, “it would be far less disruptive for the 

remedy to become effective with the next budget cycle, which will commence in late-

2023 and culminate in budget votes in March or April 2024.”  Doc. 57 at 20.  In addition, 

the State maintains that because the legislature repealed any statutory authority for 

remitting excess SWEPT revenues to the education trust fund, the Court should order 

those funds held in escrow pending further legislative action.  See id.6   

The parties’ arguments implicate important considerations regarding the roles of 

the respective branches of State government.  See Londonderry I, 154 N.H. at 163.  

The Supreme Court’s respect of those roles has led it to “demure[]” each time the court 

“has been requested to define the substantive content of a constitutionally adequate 

public education . . . .”  Id.  However, as the Londonderry I court recognized, “the 

judiciary has a responsibility to ensure that constitutional rights not be hollowed out and, 

 
6 The Coalition’s filings do not directly address the issue of an appropriate remedy.  See Docs. 53; 63. 



20 
 

in the absence of action by other branches, a judicial remedy is not only appropriate but 

essential.”  Id. (citing Petition of Below, 151 N.H. 135 (2004)). 

In light of the substantial guidance that can be gleaned from the jurisprudence 

discussed above, the plaintiffs are understandably frustrated by the manner in which the 

State is currently administering the SWEPT.  However, any immediate remedy which 

impacts the current budget cycle will necessarily have a far greater impact on the 

Coalition’s members and other similarly-situated communities than on the State.  See 

Doc. 60 (Aff. Lindsey Stepp) ¶ 20 (explaining prospective remedy would allow affected 

communities to consider this change “when building their next budgets”).  While those 

communities also could have benefitted from the guidance discussed above, the Court 

recognizes that it may have been impractical or imprudent for communities to collect a 

surplus of tax revenue before the Court ruled on the merits of the relevant constitutional 

issues.  On the other hand, the Court is mindful that communities which do not generate 

excess SWEPT funds or offset the SWEPT with negative local tax rates continue to 

shoulder an unfair burden as it relates to the State’s adequacy aid obligations.   

Having considered all of the relevant facts and circumstances, the Court 

concludes that the following remedy strikes the appropriate equitable balance:  

Beginning with the upcoming budget cycle (i.e., the budget cycle the State 

characterizes as commencing “in late-2023” and culminating in “budget votes in March 

or April 2024,” Doc. 57 at 20), the State is enjoined from permitting communities to 

retain excess SWEPT funds or offset the equalized SWEPT rate via negative local tax 

rates.  Further, any SWEPT funds generated by a community which exceed the amount 

of adequacy aid to which that community is statutorily entitled must be remitted to the 



21 
 

DRA.  While the Court declines to direct that the State place such revenue in a 

particular fund, the Court reiterates that such funds must be used for the exclusive 

purpose of satisfying the State’s adequacy aid obligations. 

Conclusion 

 Consistent with the foregoing, the Court concludes that by administering the 

SWEPT in a manner which allows communities to retain excess SWEPT funds or offset 

the equalized SWEPT rate via negative local tax rates, the State has violated Part II, 

Article 5 of the State Constitution.  Accordingly, the plaintiffs’ motion for partial summary 

judgment as to this issue (Doc. 49) is GRANTED, and the cross-motions filed by the 

State (Doc. 56) and the Coalition (Doc. 53) are DENIED.  Beginning with the budget 

cycle commencing in late-2023 and culminating in budget votes in March or April 2024, 

the State is enjoined from permitting communities to retain excess SWEPT funds or 

offset the equalized SWEPT rate via negative local tax rates.  Further, any SWEPT 

funds generated in excess of the adequacy aid to which any community is statutorily 

entitled must be remitted to the DRA, and thereafter used for the exclusive purpose of 

satisfying the State’s constitutional adequacy aid obligations. 

 Lastly, given the timing of this Order and the fact that the Court is 

contemporaneously releasing an order in Contoocook Valley School District, et al. v 

State of New Hampshire, finding the current base adequacy amount unconstitutional, 

the deadline to file a Motion to Reconsider is extended to 30 days. 

SO ORDERED. 

Date:  November 20, 2023    
Hon. David W. Ruoff 
Rockingham County Superior Court 


	2023 11 27 Draft Agenda Packet.pdf
	Sunapee Selectboard Draft Minutes 11-13-23
	MS434R (12)
	2023 2nd Issue Tax Warrant
	FY 23 TaxRate (3)
	2023 11 20 Use of Facilities Make A Wish
	Timber Tax 
	HAB cover letter
	Pre-hearing memorandum
	20231115120207




